
CITY OF PINE LAKE, GEORGIA

REGULAR MEETING GENDA

JANUARY 27, 6

NOTE: In the event that icy conditions prevent neighbors and staff from safely 
accessing the Courthouse/Council Chambers, this meeting will be held via Zoom. 
The link (https://us06web.zoom.us/j/81365887047) may also be found on the City's 
website under Front Page News.
CALL TO ORDER – REGULAR MEETING

DECLARATION OF EMERGENCY – WINTER STORM, ICY ROADWAYS

ANNOUNCEMENTS/COMMUNICATIONS

ADOPTION OF THE AGENDA OF THE DAY

ADOPTION OF THE MINUTES
• December 9, 2025 – Special Called Meeting
• January 13, 2026 – Organizational Meeting & Work Session

PUBLIC COMMENT –· 3 minutes each please 

CONSENT AGENDA
1. Resolution R-2026-02, 2024 Audit Report – Acceptance
2. Resolution R-2026-03, 2026 City Council Meeting Calendar – Adoption
3. Resolution R-2026-04, Authorization of City Manager or Designee to Apply for

Local Maintenance Improvement Grant (LMIG)
4. Resolution R-2026-05, Authorizing Official Signatures for Truist Bank

Accounts
5. Resolution R-2026-06, Consent to Approve Contract for City Attorney,

2026-2028

NEW BUSINESS

1. Resolution R-2026-07, Authorization to Apply for Tree City USA
Designation

2. Resolution R-2026-08, Memorandum of Agreement (MOA) with the Atlanta
Regional Commission to Develop 2026 Comprehensive Plan – Approval

3. Resolution R-2026-09, Municipal Appointment to the DeKalb County
Women's Commission

4. Resolution R-2026-10, Beach House Renovations – Proposal
PUBLIC COMMENT – 3 minutes each please

REPORTS AND OTHER BUSINESS
• Mayor
• City Council

EXECUTIVE SESSION

ADJOURNMENT

MAYOR
Brandy Hall 

COUNCIIL MEMBERS
Jeff Goldberg – Mayor pro tem
Deborah Hull
Stephanie Kohler
Jane Lowers
Thomas Torrent 

CITY OF PINE LAKE
425 ALLGOOD ROAD
P.O. BOX 1325
PINE LAKE, GA 30072
404-999-4901

www.pinelakega.net



Stanley D Hawthorne
City Manager

stanleyhawthorne@pinelakega.net
425 Allgood Road Stone Mountain GA 30083

PO Box 1325 Pine Lake, GA 30072 404-999-4932
www.pinelakega.net

COUNCIL AGENDA MEMORANDUM (CAM)

TO: Honorable Mayor and Council Members

FROM: Stanley D Hawthorne, City Manager

DATE: January 27, 2026

TITLE: Declaration of Local Emergency

RECOMMENDATION
Approve resolution whereby the Governing authority of the City of Pine lake  declares the existence of a 
State of Emergency and conducting its January 27, 2026 Business Meeting via teleconference using a 
suitable platform such as Zoom for public participation.

BACKGROUND
As has been counseled by City Attorney Chris Balch, Georgia law, specifically O.C.G.A. § 50-14-1, 
allows public agencies to meet by teleconference during declared emergencies involving public safety or 
property preservation, provided they give proper notice and ensure simultaneous public access, even if 
generally prohibited, with no formal emergency declaration needed for certain agency types to determine 
necessity. The key is that the public must still have real-time, equivalent access (like video streaming 
platforms) to the meeting, maintaining transparency despite the remote format.

Preliminary weather reports point to the possibility of home and business disruptions this weekend of 
January 30 and early next week in the Atlanta metropolitan area. It may require the closing of City Hall 
and the Municipal Annex as well as the holding of the January 27, 2026 City Council Meeting via remote 
teleconferencing.

In this regard, City Attorney Balch has further advised, “As a contingency, I would prepare for a Zoom 
meeting on Tuesday, place a notice on the Agendas that with the weather forecast and in the event of a 
declared emergency, the meeting will be held over Zoom, as well as a contingency agenda item for Pine 
Lake to declare its own emergency in the event that conditions are unsafe in the City but may be different 
outside the City.

As much effort as is reasonable should be used to get the word out to the community in advance and as 
we get closer to Tuesday evening.



Stanley D Hawthorne 
City Manager 

stanleyhawthorne@pinelakega.net 
425 Allgood Road Stone Mountain GA 30083 

PO Box 1325  Pine Lake, GA 30072 404-999-4932 
www.pinelakega.net

I [Balch] would suggest that we schedule conditions conference calls on Monday at 1000 and Tuesday at 
1300 to discuss between Public Safety, City Administration, and City Attorney (with Mayoral attendance 
if she is available) to discuss the conditions in the area and decide what we are going to do. If the Mayor 
is not available, Staff can make a recommendation to her and the Council. If the State or the County are in 
a state of emergency, we don’t need to take this action as the higher government declarations are 
sufficient to allow us to proceed with a virtual meeting.”

RESOURCE IMPACT 
There is minimal fiscal impact for the contingency prescribed activities. 

ATTACHMENTS 
Resolution 



Resolution R-2026-11 

RESOLUTION DECLARING A STATE OF EMERGENCY 
IN THE CITY OF PINE LAKE FOR THE PERIOD  

JANUARY 25 TO JANUARY 28 2026 

WHEREAS, A period of wintry precipitation in the form of snow and/or ice has 
fallen across the Metropolitan Atlanta area, including the City of 
Pine Lake; and 

WHEREAS, Roads and sidewalks remain dangerous to travel; and 

WHEREAS, In the interest of the health, safety, and welfare of all Pine Lake 
residents, citizens, and visitors, pursuant to the authority of section 
2.24 of the Charter of the City of Pine Lake, the Governing 
Authority finds and expressly declares that a STATE OF 
EMERGENCY is appropriate within the City of Pine Lake from 10 
pm on January 25 until midnight on January 28  

WHERAS, The Governing Authority of the City of Pine Lake encourages all 
persons within the City of Pine Lake to shelter in place and avoid 
all but emergency travel during this period of time 

NOW THEREFORE, the Governing Authority of the City of Pine Lake 
DECLARES A STATE OF EMERGENCY for the period beginning at 10 pm on 
January 25, 2026 to and including midnight on January 28, 2026; 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that all citizens are encouraged to remain 
indoors, to shelter in place, and to avoid all but emergency travel during this period 
to keep the roads open to emergency responders and work crews attempting to 
clear impediments to travel across the Metropolitan Atlanta Area. 

ADOPTED by the Mayor and Council of the City of Pine Lake, this 27th day 
of January, 2026. 

BRANDY HALL 
Mayor 

ATTEST: APPROVED AS TO FORM: 



Resolution R-2026-11 

NED DAGENHARD CHRISTOPHER D. BALCH 
City Clerk  City Attorney 



Stanley D Hawthorne
City Manager

stanleyhawthorne@pinelakega.net
425 Allgood Road Stone Mountain GA 30083

PO Box 1325 Pine Lake, GA 30072 404-999-4932
www.pinelakega.net

COUNCIL AGENDA MEMORANDUM (CAM)

TO: Honorable Mayor and Council Members

FROM: Stanley Hawthorne, City Manager

DATE: January 27, 2026

TITLE: Acceptance of 2024 Annual Financial Report Audit 

RECOMMENDATION
Approve resolution accepting the 2024 Annual Financial Report that was presented at the January 13, 
2026 City Council Work Session by the City’s Auditor, McNair McClemore Middlebrooks & Co., 
represented by Kurt Hardison, Certified Public Accountant (CPA). 

BACKGROUND
Municipalities are required by State law to prepare financial statements, which include notes and other 
required supplementary information, which in total comprise the basic financial statements. State law also 
requires those financial statements to be audited by an independent auditor and submitted to the 
Department of Audits and Accounts upon completion. 

Financial Statements are an integral part of financial reporting to the public and an important document to 
understand the financial condition of the City during a specified period of time and on a specific date. It is 
the responsibility of management to design and implement systems, procedures, and controls to ensure 
accurate and timely reporting. 

It is the responsibility of the independent auditor to report to management and City Council any 
significant deficiencies or material weaknesses in internal controls over financial reporting or compliance 
with laws and regulations found during the audit. The auditor noted seven total findings: five related to 
accounting/financial reporting and two related to compliance with State law. The City drafted Corrective 
Action Plans for all findings which will be implemented over the coming months.   

The purpose of an annual municipal financial report audit is to provide independent assurance that the City's 
financial statements are accurate, reliable, and fairly presented, ensuring transparency, accountability, and 
informed decision-making for citizens, investors, and oversight bodies by verifying compliance with
accounting standards and laws, identifying financial risks, and building public trust.



Stanley D Hawthorne 
City Manager 

stanleyhawthorne@pinelakega.net 
425 Allgood Road Stone Mountain GA 30083 

PO Box 1325  Pine Lake, GA 30072 404-999-4932 
www.pinelakega.net

Key Objectives 
“The audit verifies that the financial statements are free of material misstatements and are 
presented fairly in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP), providing a 
reliable picture of the government's financial position. 
Auditors check that the municipality has adhered to applicable federal, state, and local laws, 
regulations, and grant agreements. This helps avoid penalties, loss of future grant eligibility, or the 
withholding of state funds. 
The audit assesses the effectiveness of the municipality's internal control structure, helping to 
identify weaknesses or vulnerabilities to fraud, waste, and mismanagement of public resources. 
An independent examination fosters public confidence that the government is managing taxpayer 
money responsibly and ethically, enhancing the municipality's credibility with the community and 
stakeholders.
The resulting audit report provides governing boards, finance committees, and administrators with 
the accurate information needed to make informed decisions about budgeting, planning for capital 
improvements, managing debt, and long-term sustainability. 
For investors in municipal bonds, the audited financial report is a critical source of information 
used to assess the municipality's financial health and creditworthiness, which can influence its 
bond rating and borrowing interest rates.” 

The annual financial report audit should be formally accepted by the City Council. Formal acceptance by 
the governing body is considered a best practice in municipal governance and is often a compliance 
requirement, as the audit process is generally considered incomplete without this official approval.  

RESOURCE IMPACT 
There is no cost associated with this acceptance action. 

ATTACHMENTS 
Resolution R-2026-02, Audit Report – Acceptance 



Resolution R-2025-02 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF PINE LAKE TO ACCEPT THE FISCAL YEAR 
2024 AUDIT REPORT AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES 

 
WHEREAS, Section 6.29 of the Charter of the City of Pine Lake requires the City to complete 

an annual audit of all city accounts, funds, and financial transactions be performed 
by a Certified Public Accountant; and 

 
WHEREAS,  The City Council received at its January 13 meeting a report of the Audit from the 

firm selected as the outside auditor;  
 
WHEREAS, The City Council wishes to acknowledge receipt and adopt as policy the 

Administration’s responses to the seven audit findings made by the Audit Firm; 
and 

 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Governing Authority of the City of Pine 

Lake, Georgia, in an open and public meeting, that it formally accepts the Audit Report presented 
on January 13, 2026, is accepted by the Mayor and City Council and its findings and conclusions 
duly noted; 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the responses of the City Administration to the 

Auditor’s findings are adopted and made the responses of the Governing Authority and the City 
Manager is directed to pursue and apply those corrections to the City’s financial management 
and oversight as referenced in the Audit Report 
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that this resolution is effective immediately upon its 
adoption by the Governing Authority, and the City Clerk is authorized, in consultation with the 
City Attorney, to make any changes or modifications to this Resolution as may be necessary to 
give full effect to the intent of the City Council. 

 
ADOPTED by the Mayor and Council of the City of Pine Lake, this 27th day of January, 

2026. 
 

 
             
      BRANDY HALL 
      Mayor 
 
ATTEST:     APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
             
NED DAGENHARD    CHRISTOPHER D. BALCH 
City Clerk     City Attorney 















FINANCIAL STATEMENTS







THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK

























THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK



    NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS





























          SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION



THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK













THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK



      GOVERNMENTAL REPORT





















Stanley D Hawthorne
City Manager

stanleyhawthorne@pinelakega.net
425 Allgood Road Stone Mountain GA 30083

PO Box 1325 Pine Lake, GA 30072 404-999-4932
www.pinelakega.net

COUNCIL AGENDA MEMORANDUM (PCAM)

TO: Honorable Mayor and Council Members

FROM: Stanley D Hawthorne, City Manager

DATE: January 27, 2026

TITLE: 2026 City Council Regular Meeting Calendar

RECOMMENDATION
Approve resolution adopting the regular meeting calendar of the City Council for calendar year 2026.

BACKGROUND
At the start of each year, the City Council adopts its meeting calendar. This calendar follows the codified 
pattern of “first and last Tuesday of each month.” Unlike previous years, this calendar does not appear to 
present any conflicts against City holidays. 

There is no meeting scheduled for July 14, 2026 (the second Tuesday in July). This option comes at the 
recommendation of the Mayor and City Manager to insert a “summer break” into the meeting calendar.

RESOURCE IMPACT
No impact.

ATTACHMENTS
Resolution R-2026-03
2026 City Council Regular Meeting Calendar



Resolution R-2026-03 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF PINE LAKE TO ADOPT THE 2026 REGULAR 
MEETING SCHEDULE AND CALENDAR, AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES 

WHEREAS, The Georgia Open Meetings Act, O.C.G.A. § 50-14-1, et seq., requires that each 
Local Government approve a regular meeting schedule to inform the public when 
the Government intends to meet and conduct its business; and 

WHEREAS,  Section 2.19 of the Charter of the City of Pine Lake also requires the city council 
to meet regularly and to provide notice of its meetings; 

WHEREAS, The Council was presented with a draft meeting calendar during its Work Session 
held on January 13; and 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Governing Authority of the City of Pine 
Lake, Georgia, in an open and public meeting, that it formally adopts the Meeting Schedule 
published at the January 13 meeting and attached to the Council Action Memorandum for this 
Agenda Item. Furthermore, the City Clerk is directed to attach a copy of that calendar as an 
Exhibit to this Resolution by which attachment the calendared is incorporated into this 
Resolution by Reference. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that this resolution is effective immediately upon its 
adoption by the Governing Authority, and the City Clerk is authorized, in consultation with the 
City Attorney, to make any changes or modifications to this Resolution as may be necessary to 
give full effect to the intent of the City Council. 

ADOPTED by the Mayor and Council of the City of Pine Lake, this 27th day of January, 
2026. 

BRANDY HALL 
Mayor 

ATTEST: APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

NED DAGENHARD CHRISTOPHER D. BALCH 
City Clerk City Attorney 



 
 

 

 

 

Date Time Meeting Type
January 13, 2026 6:00 PM Work Session
January 27, 2026 6:00 PM Regular Meeting
February 10, 2026 6:00 PM Work Session
February 24, 2026 6:00 PM Regular Meeting
March 10, 2026 6:00 PM Work Session
March 31, 2026 6:00 PM Regular Meeting
April 14, 2026 6:00 PM Work Session
April 28, 2026 6:00 PM Regular Meeting
May 12, 2026 6:00 PM Work Session
May 26, 2026 6:00 PM Regular Meeting
June 9, 2026 6:00 PM Work Session
June 30, 2026 6:00 PM Regular Meeting
July 28, 2026 6:00 PM Regular Meeting
August 11, 2026 6:00 PM Work Session
August 25, 2026 6:00 PM Regular Meeting
September 8, 2026 6:00 PM Work Session
September 29, 2026 6:00 PM Regular Meeting
October 13, 2026 6:00 PM Work Session
October 27, 2026 6:00 PM Regular Meeting
November 10, 2026 6:00 PM Work Session
November 24, 2026 6:00 PM Regular Meeting
December 8, 2026 6:00 PM Work Session
December 29, 2026 6:00 PM Regular Meeting

2026 City Council Meetings Schedule 



Stanley D Hawthorne
City Manager

stanleyhawthorne@pinelakega.net
425 Allgood Road Stone Mountain GA 30083

PO Box 1325 Pine Lake, GA 30072 404-999-4932
www.pinelakega.net

COUNCIL AGENDA MEMORANDUM (CAM)

TO: Honorable Mayor and Council Members

FROM: Stanley D Hawthorne, City Manager

DATE: January 27, 2026 

TITLE: Local Maintenance Improvement Grant (LMIG) Application

RECOMMENDATION
Approve resolution to apply for the 2026 Local Maintenance Improvement Grant (LMIG). 

BACKGROUND
The Georgia Department of Transportation (GDOT) announced that the Governor and the Legislature 
included Local Maintenance Improvement Grant Assistance funds (LMIG) in the fiscal year 2026 budget. 
The LMIG funds will be administered and distributed using the GDOT Grants LMIG Application System. 
Eligible activities/projects for LMIG funds will be allocated per the LMIG formula.  The City of Pine 
Lake’s formula amount is approximately $13,964.05. LMIG funds require a local match of 30% 
($4,189.22).  

RESOURCE IMPACT
There is no fiscal impact for the application process but application approval will require a 30 percent 
local match of $4,189.22. 

ATTACHMENTS
Resolution
LMIG Formula Table



Resolution R-2026-04 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER OR THEIR DESIGNEE TO 
APPLY FOR FUNDS FOR LOCAL INFRASTRUCTURE IMPROVEMENT FROM THE 

GEORGIA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION LOCAL MAINTENANCE AND 
IMPROVEMENT GRANT PROGRAM 

 
WHEREAS, The State of Georgia through the Department of Transportation (“GDOT”) 

administers the Local Maintenance and Improvement Grant Program (“LMIG”) to 
provide funds to cities and counties for the purpose of improving and maintaining 
local streets and rights of way; and  

 
WHEREAS, GDOT has released funds to be applied to the program and is accepting applications 

for those funds; and 
 
WHEREAS, The City Council finds and concludes that seeking and utilizing grant funds from 

the State for paving and roadway repair saves local tax dollars for other City 
priorities; and 

 
WHEREAS, The City Council wishes to express its support for the application for these funds 

and commit to accepting them once released by the State;  
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Governing Authority of the City of Pine 
Lake, Georgia, the City Manager, or his designee, is authorized to apply for the GDOT LMIG 
program funds on behalf of the City of Pine Lake. 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Governing Authority of the City of Pine Lake 

commits and agrees to accept the funds available pursuant to the LMIG Program, and commits to 
the acceptance of any and all conditions imposed on the use of those funds by GDOT. 

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Mayor is expressly authorized to sign any and all 

documents required by GDOT or any other agency, to give full force and effect to this resolution 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that any and all resolutions or any part thereof in conflict 

with this resolution are hereby repealed this Resolution shall be effective immediately upon its 
adoption. 

 
ADOPTED by the Mayor and Council of the City of Pine Lake, this 27th day of January, 

2026. 
 
             
      BRANDY HALL 
      Mayor 
 
ATTEST:     APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
             
NED DAGENHARD    CHRISTOPHER D. BALCH 
City Clerk     City Attorney 
 
 



GDOT 
District

County City
Total 

Mileage*
 Population** 

 2024 LMIG Formula 
Amount 

2025 LMIG Formula 
Amount

2026 LMIG Formula 
Amount

 Required 
LMIG 

Match 
5 APPLING (UNINCORPORATED)             859.09                    13,053 1,129,807.27$                 $                1,152,992.44  $            1,307,148.37 10%
5 APPLING BAXLEY                85.19                      4,945 134,725.81$                    $                   136,993.60  $               154,957.92 10%
5 APPLING GRAHAM                  2.69                          264 4,900.50$                         $                        4,988.80  $                    5,641.59 10%
5 APPLING SURRENCY                  6.17                          195 8,733.78$                         $                        8,895.52  $                 10,090.71 10%
4 ATKINSON (UNINCORPORATED)             376.06                      5,225 495,804.05$                    $                   501,388.74  $               568,801.23 10%
4 ATKINSON PEARSON                17.88                      1,825 33,930.59$                       $                     33,432.91  $                 37,986.18 10%
4 ATKINSON WILLACOOCHEE                14.75                      1,243 25,694.98$                       $                     25,992.96  $                 29,514.44 10%
5 BACON (UNINCORPORATED)             500.34                      7,652 658,675.09$                    $                   672,451.23  $               761,638.24 10%
5 BACON ALMA                40.97                      3,472 70,828.19$                       $                     72,525.08  $                 82,114.81 10%
4 BAKER (UNINCORPORATED)             265.85                      2,174 347,847.35$                    $                   345,578.51  $               391,557.85 30%
4 BAKER NEWTON                  9.17                          569 15,118.72$                       $                     15,024.68  $                 16,934.74 30%
2 BALDWIN (UNINCORPORATED)             414.98                    26,910 669,643.65$                    $                   683,607.68  $               774,419.95 30%
2 BALDWIN MILLEDGEVILLE                93.41                    16,486 219,216.56$                    $                   220,592.29  $               246,698.27 30%
1 BANKS (UNINCORPORATED)             348.83                    15,373 515,874.37$                    $                   528,880.30  $               600,672.88 30%
1 BANKS HOMER                17.65                      1,647 29,881.49$                       $                     31,460.07  $                 36,425.07 30%
1 BANKS / JACKSON MAYSVILLE                19.08                      2,167 35,323.42$                       $                     36,530.43  $                 42,059.13 30%
1 BARROW (UNINCORPORATED)             485.97                    57,262 917,757.02$                    $                   947,411.50  $            1,085,605.99 30%
1 BARROW BETHLEHEM                  8.45                          777 14,799.75$                       $                     15,175.37  $                 17,358.77 30%
1 BARROW CARL                  3.66                          227 5,787.23$                         $                        5,928.26  $                    6,758.40 30%
1 BARROW STATHAM                22.36                      3,102 44,779.31$                       $                     45,979.16  $                 53,193.28 30%
1 BARROW WINDER                95.51                    19,669 231,148.41$                    $                   239,039.73  $               271,763.61 30%
1 BARROW / GWINNETT AUBURN                43.64                      9,688 102,768.67$                    $                   109,226.14  $               129,037.79 30%

6 BARTOW (UNINCORPORATED)             876.86                    77,674 1,526,741.01$                 $                1,567,258.31  $            1,780,812.95 30%
6 BARTOW ADAIRSVILLE                35.77                      5,052 73,542.44$                       $                     75,849.93  $                 85,717.06 30%
6 BARTOW CARTERSVILLE             141.52                    24,937 311,688.40$                    $                   323,486.21  $               373,480.64 30%
6 BARTOW EMERSON                21.04                      1,437 34,551.05$                       $                     35,217.37  $                 39,768.14 30%
6 BARTOW EUHARLEE                24.97                      4,168 56,871.63$                       $                     57,561.30  $                 64,287.84 30%
6 BARTOW KINGSTON                  8.02                          902 14,353.41$                       $                     14,595.25  $                 17,617.40 30%
6 BARTOW WHITE                  4.91                          645 10,032.27$                       $                     10,230.51  $                 11,429.64 30%

Cities are within multiple Counties in the same regional commissions - 

FY 2026 LMIG FORMULA AMOUNTS

Cities are within multiple regional commissions -      Based on 2023 Census Estimates **

Based on 2025 GDOT Report *

Page 1 of 21



GDOT 
District

County City
Total 

Mileage*
 Population** 

 2024 LMIG Formula 
Amount 

2025 LMIG Formula 
Amount

2026 LMIG Formula 
Amount

 Required 
LMIG 

Match 
6 BARTOW / POLK TAYLORSVILLE                  5.37                          258 8,109.83$                         $                        8,297.99  $                    9,395.08 30%
4 BEN HILL (UNINCORPORATED)             347.22                      8,186 474,448.09$                    $                   483,977.04  $               548,511.76 10%
4 BEN HILL / IRWIN FITZGERALD                88.67                      8,942 163,211.97$                    $                   165,666.47  $               187,627.02 10%
4 BERRIEN (UNINCORPORATED)             642.25                    11,017 852,300.76$                    $                   868,551.99  $               985,951.20 10%
4 BERRIEN ALAPAHA                  8.18                          490 12,931.14$                       $                     13,214.34  $                 14,984.50 10%
4 BERRIEN ENIGMA                11.72                      1,098 21,093.46$                       $                     21,258.83  $                 24,217.29 10%
4 BERRIEN NASHVILLE                46.90                      4,945 87,052.69$                       $                     88,727.99  $               100,735.58 10%
4 BERRIEN RAY CITY                  6.15                      1,020 13,385.87$                       $                     13,705.23  $                 15,788.28 10%
3 BIBB MACON BIBB COUNTY          1,137.77                  156,512 2,348,646.26$                 $                2,385,048.79  $            2,697,459.99 30%
2 BLECKLEY (UNINCORPORATED)             317.91                      7,712 434,658.33$                    $                   443,904.45  $               503,716.19 10%
2 BLECKLEY COCHRAN                54.04                      4,749 96,055.40$                       $                     96,167.24  $               109,486.18 10%
5 BRANTLEY (UNINCORPORATED)             513.50                    16,884 729,222.60$                    $                   744,188.27  $               844,348.55 10%
5 BRANTLEY HOBOKEN                14.24                          489 20,358.24$                       $                     20,749.95  $                 23,559.11 10%
5 BRANTLEY NAHUNTA                19.55                      1,028 30,030.91$                       $                     30,677.20  $                 34,819.50 10%
4 BROOKS (UNINCORPORATED)             593.46                    11,355 794,554.60$                    $                   811,066.10  $               919,205.73 10%
4 BROOKS MORVEN                  8.24                          514 13,242.60$                       $                     13,431.27  $                 15,236.04 10%
4 BROOKS QUITMAN                45.80                      4,036 81,031.28$                       $                     82,217.30  $                 92,868.98 10%
4 BROOKS / THOMAS BARWICK                  6.97                          353 10,719.20$                       $                     10,900.85  $                 12,320.18 30%
5 BRYAN (UNINCORPORATED)             316.55                    28,441 548,449.05$                    $                   564,460.17  $               645,659.44 30%
5 BRYAN PEMBROKE                25.57                      2,839 47,281.25$                       $                     48,548.48  $                 55,913.60 30%
5 BRYAN RICHMOND HILL                69.56                    18,459 192,249.76$                    $                   198,556.20  $               226,617.93 30%
5 BULLOCH (UNINCORPORATED)          1,241.94                    46,969 1,792,651.04$                 $                1,831,816.96  $            2,084,694.12 30%
5 BULLOCH BROOKLET                20.68                      2,063 36,736.17$                       $                     38,379.99  $                 43,603.08 30%
5 BULLOCH PORTAL                10.56                          677 16,909.27$                       $                     17,272.72  $                 19,652.68 30%
5 BULLOCH REGISTER                  1.72                          166 3,085.76$                         $                        3,154.04  $                    3,587.81 30%
5 BULLOCH STATESBORO             124.51                    34,452 355,091.43$                    $                   366,515.86  $               415,431.48 30%
2 BURKE (UNINCORPORATED)             809.17                    16,805 1,090,730.90$                 $                1,113,681.35  $            1,262,497.50 10%
2 BURKE GIRARD                  4.67                          182 6,808.35$                         $                        6,954.71  $                    7,876.34 10%
2 BURKE KEYSVILLE                  3.12                          307 5,737.57$                         $                        5,791.21  $                    6,548.95 10%
2 BURKE MIDVILLE                  7.98                          381 12,076.10$                       $                     12,322.47  $                 13,944.77 10%
2 BURKE SARDIS                  9.38                          999 17,469.15$                       $                     17,843.16  $                 20,216.52 10%
2 BURKE VIDETTE                      -                            102 616.63$                            $                           617.46  $                       707.93 10%
2 BURKE WAYNESBORO                36.88                      5,607 79,814.93$                       $                     80,841.82  $                 91,140.89 10%
3 BUTTS (UNINCORPORATED)             339.03                    19,933 529,624.81$                    $                   544,444.59  $               618,443.71 30%
3 BUTTS FLOVILLA                10.93                          683 17,337.20$                       $                     17,796.44  $                 20,218.28 30%

Page 2 of 21



GDOT 
District

County City
Total 

Mileage*
 Population** 

 2024 LMIG Formula 
Amount 

2025 LMIG Formula 
Amount

2026 LMIG Formula 
Amount

 Required 
LMIG 

Match 
3 BUTTS JACKSON                45.05                      5,854 89,400.39$                       $                     91,400.96  $               104,424.70 30%
3 BUTTS JENKINSBURG                  4.52                          417 7,925.37$                         $                        8,156.69  $                    9,294.93 30%
4 CALHOUN (UNINCORPORATED)             221.99                      1,136 278,834.80$                    $                   284,208.37  $               322,243.64 30%
4 CALHOUN EDISON                11.09                      1,177 21,214.26$                       $                     21,108.20  $                 23,873.45 30%
4 CALHOUN LEARY                  6.93                          503 11,781.45$                       $                     11,764.74  $                 13,304.61 30%
4 CALHOUN MORGAN                  3.98                      1,800 14,487.66$                       $                     16,120.66  $                 18,128.92 30%
4 CALHOUN / EARLY ARLINGTON                17.48                      1,149 28,849.44$                       $                     28,938.53  $                 32,727.97 30%
5 CAMDEN (UNINCORPORATED)             299.55                    17,179 469,851.10$                    $                   479,397.76  $               543,422.15 30%
5 CAMDEN KINGSLAND             114.37                    20,343 256,050.28$                    $                   265,650.81  $               303,149.07 30%
5 CAMDEN ST MARYS             107.25                    19,537 244,195.57$                    $                   251,104.92  $               287,472.44 30%
5 CAMDEN WOODBINE                17.39                      1,059 27,780.89$                       $                     28,319.84  $                 31,975.88 30%
5 CANDLER (UNINCORPORATED)             367.44                      6,865 491,024.12$                    $                   500,918.84  $               567,976.86 10%
5 CANDLER METTER                43.37                      3,986 76,832.57$                       $                     78,570.98  $                 89,080.84 10%
5 CANDLER PULASKI                  4.08                          208 6,184.71$                         $                        6,372.40  $                    7,221.29 10%
6 CARROLL (UNINCORPORATED)             999.37                    76,984 1,670,765.55$                 $                1,713,085.86  $            1,949,510.00 30%
6 CARROLL BOWDON                19.12                      2,211 36,611.68$                       $                     37,352.19  $                 42,421.16 30%
6 CARROLL CARROLLTON             139.84                    27,793 338,815.21$                    $                   342,934.32  $               390,923.60 30%
6 CARROLL MOUNT ZION                24.90                      2,022 42,005.32$                       $                     43,297.11  $                 49,294.45 30%
6 CARROLL ROOPVILLE                  0.58                          242 2,125.50$                         $                        2,193.73  $                    2,500.93 30%
6 CARROLL WHITESBURG                  7.44                          622 12,765.17$                       $                     13,068.38  $                 14,852.73 30%
6 CARROLL / DOUGLAS VILLA RICA                84.72                    18,703 212,432.33$                    $                   219,713.91  $               249,779.43 30%
6 CARROLL / HARALSON TEMPLE                44.05                      6,360 88,183.93$                       $                     93,739.78  $               106,520.48 30%
6 CATOOSA (UNINCORPORATED)             428.09                    55,245 857,918.38$                    $                   875,476.26  $               989,643.38 30%
6 CATOOSA RINGGOLD                23.30                      3,435 49,420.71$                       $                     50,332.74  $                 56,835.59 30%
6 CATOOSA / WALKER FORT OGLETHORPE                45.50                    10,598 119,945.52$                    $                   121,872.39  $               137,987.56 30%
5 CHARLTON (UNINCORPORATED)             285.08                      7,351 393,953.53$                    $                   400,733.47  $               454,720.23 10%
5 CHARLTON FOLKSTON                25.66                      4,684 58,282.99$                       $                     60,633.33  $                 68,846.23 10%
5 CHARLTON HOMELAND                24.32                          899 35,337.53$                       $                     35,904.40  $                 40,678.96 10%
5 CHATHAM (UNINCORPORATED)             363.49                    92,594 1,006,967.98$                 $                1,025,628.38  $            1,157,383.42 30%
5 CHATHAM BLOOMINGDALE                32.14                      3,129 56,265.35$                       $                     59,455.38  $                 67,230.09 30%
5 CHATHAM GARDEN CITY                47.33                    10,373 120,784.70$                    $                   123,471.94  $               139,017.41 30%
5 CHATHAM POOLER             115.92                    29,544 306,146.28$                    $                   322,354.48  $               369,203.35 30%
5 CHATHAM PORT WENTWORTH                55.29                    14,468 128,219.17$                    $                   145,272.09  $               178,710.79 30%
5 CHATHAM SAVANNAH             709.74                  147,748 1,762,631.59$                 $                1,800,037.11  $            2,030,501.88 30%
5 CHATHAM THUNDERBOLT                15.78                      2,539 34,756.70$                       $                     35,447.95  $                 39,967.87 30%

Page 3 of 21



GDOT 
District

County City
Total 

Mileage*
 Population** 

 2024 LMIG Formula 
Amount 

2025 LMIG Formula 
Amount

2026 LMIG Formula 
Amount

 Required 
LMIG 

Match 
5 CHATHAM TYBEE ISLAND                30.33                      3,119 55,951.83$                       $                     57,208.60  $                 64,597.55 30%
5 CHATHAM VERNONBURG                  1.33                          141 2,462.44$                         $                        2,525.07  $                    2,862.02 30%

3 CHATTAHOOCHEE CUSSETA-CHATTAHOOCHEE                80.79                      8,661 154,011.58$                    $                   155,327.41  $               174,517.90 10%

6 CHATTOOGA (UNINCORPORATED)             423.24                    17,888 624,935.55$                    $                   637,528.83  $               723,499.92 30%
6 CHATTOOGA LYERLY                  5.93                          463 10,009.41$                       $                     10,195.07  $                 11,610.89 30%
6 CHATTOOGA MENLO                  7.10                          482 11,610.76$                       $                     11,822.64  $                 13,399.59 30%
6 CHATTOOGA SUMMERVILLE                38.83                      4,420 74,310.97$                       $                     75,583.07  $                 85,663.93 30%
6 CHATTOOGA TRION                19.30                      1,969 35,580.18$                       $                     36,144.44  $                 40,996.46 30%
6 CHEROKEE (UNINCORPORATED)          1,274.02                  187,117 2,662,847.48$                 $                2,729,358.91  $            3,102,816.43 30%
6 CHEROKEE BALL GROUND                21.58                      3,039 39,670.26$                       $                     41,376.78  $                 51,651.47 30%
6 CHEROKEE CANTON             124.21                    36,857 362,949.68$                    $                   376,192.75  $               431,698.50 30%
6 CHEROKEE HOLLY SPRINGS                72.07                    19,540 188,833.31$                    $                   202,295.11  $               237,674.99 30%
6 CHEROKEE WALESKA                  3.65                          961 8,943.62$                         $                     10,312.06  $                 11,838.55 30%
6 CHEROKEE WOODSTOCK             121.84                    38,473 359,734.16$                    $                   372,385.24  $               439,558.16 30%
1 CLARKE ATHENS-CLARKE             610.24                  128,628 1,523,622.84$                 $                1,555,749.97  $            1,756,898.36 30%
1 CLARKE WINTERVILLE                17.12                      1,195 28,244.48$                       $                     28,785.41  $                 32,537.44 30%
4 CLAY (UNINCORPORATED)             196.70                      1,757 251,279.95$                    $                   256,385.54  $               290,740.60 10%
4 CLAY FORT GAINES                14.91                          982 24,327.66$                       $                     24,704.66  $                 27,929.55 10%
4 CLAY BLUFFTON                  4.40                          114 6,075.31$                         $                        6,185.37  $                    7,022.04 10%
7 CLAYTON (UNINCORPORATED)             861.45                  235,782 2,493,912.33$                 $                2,533,353.65  $            2,856,335.81 30%
7 CLAYTON FOREST PARK                79.58                    19,368 218,163.38$                    $                   219,149.62  $               247,116.11 30%
7 CLAYTON JONESBORO                27.61                      6,140 61,289.74$                       $                     62,024.58  $                 81,712.95 30%
7 CLAYTON LAKE CITY                17.72                      2,896 40,413.10$                       $                     39,889.31  $                 45,192.85 30%
7 CLAYTON LOVEJOY                22.31                    12,080 95,744.88$                       $                     99,715.67  $               115,434.07 30%
7 CLAYTON MORROW                30.00                      6,395 76,684.65$                       $                     77,135.56  $                 86,867.24 30%
7 CLAYTON RIVERDALE                49.98                    14,672 152,145.16$                    $                   153,263.41  $               172,607.18 30%
5 CLINCH (UNINCORPORATED)             385.64                      3,844 494,867.69$                    $                   504,965.22  $               572,782.64 10%
5 CLINCH ARGYLE                  3.44                          189 5,377.85$                         $                        5,449.81  $                    6,183.12 10%
5 CLINCH DUPONT                  3.21                          128 4,718.13$                         $                        4,798.33  $                    5,434.05 10%
5 CLINCH FARGO                  8.03                          258 11,367.98$                       $                     11,588.38  $                 13,161.90 10%
5 CLINCH HOMERVILLE                23.06                      2,327 42,338.29$                       $                     42,963.21  $                 48,805.67 10%
7 COBB (UNINCORPORATED)          2,429.84                  573,376 6,441,927.29$                 $                6,563,712.34  $            7,420,390.68 30%
7 COBB ACWORTH                88.71                    22,379 244,503.04$                    $                   248,307.32  $               280,942.85 30%
7 COBB KENNESAW             104.30                    34,683 329,285.61$                    $                   337,397.25  $               388,415.42 30%

Page 4 of 21



GDOT 
District

County City
Total 

Mileage*
 Population** 

 2024 LMIG Formula 
Amount 

2025 LMIG Formula 
Amount

2026 LMIG Formula 
Amount

 Required 
LMIG 

Match 
7 COBB MARIETTA             212.96                    62,769 635,383.63$                    $                   652,003.49  $               737,218.69 30%
7 COBB POWDER SPRINGS                78.02                    18,950 197,284.26$                    $                   204,463.70  $               242,005.88 30%
7 COBB SMYRNA             173.18                    56,566 551,694.09$                    $                   562,994.89  $               637,834.60 30%
7 COBB / DOUGLAS AUSTELL                42.77                      8,148 99,891.78$                       $                   102,156.72  $               117,117.45 30%
4 COFFEE (UNINCORPORATED)          1,023.34                    27,242 1,418,954.35$                 $                1,444,579.29  $            1,638,220.64 10%
4 COFFEE AMBROSE                  9.72                          335 13,892.01$                       $                     14,192.47  $                 16,089.52 10%
4 COFFEE BROXTON                17.20                      1,075 27,530.29$                       $                     28,082.61  $                 31,817.87 10%
4 COFFEE DOUGLAS             107.24                    11,769 202,704.48$                    $                   206,049.03  $               233,544.66 10%
4 COFFEE NICHOLLS                15.52                      2,896 38,541.54$                       $                     38,253.82  $                 42,077.44 10%
4 COLQUITT (UNINCORPORATED)             869.71                    28,732 1,236,891.06$                 $                1,261,365.43  $            1,431,007.05 30%
4 COLQUITT BERLIN                  6.94                          517 11,586.10$                       $                     11,845.15  $                 13,415.94 30%
4 COLQUITT DOERUN                11.97                          718 19,042.15$                       $                     19,379.01  $                 21,933.94 30%
4 COLQUITT ELLENTON                  4.52                          213 6,826.44$                         $                        6,946.48  $                    7,879.08 30%
4 COLQUITT FUNSTON                  4.05                          411 7,405.71$                         $                        7,569.85  $                    8,587.73 30%
4 COLQUITT MOULTRIE             117.93                    14,565 233,246.93$                    $                   236,740.84  $               268,088.30 30%
4 COLQUITT NORMAN PARK                13.36                          975 22,194.57$                       $                     22,633.50  $                 25,686.01 30%
2 COLUMBIA (UNINCORPORATED)             810.14                  143,590 1,833,350.30$                 $                1,881,285.19  $            2,143,819.46 10%
2 COLUMBIA GROVETOWN                46.62                    17,580 158,135.35$                    $                   164,090.83  $               188,032.00 10%
2 COLUMBIA HARLEM                24.60                      3,992 53,775.84$                       $                     55,154.34  $                 62,542.36 10%
4 COOK (UNINCORPORATED)             383.25                      8,965 521,330.18$                    $                   532,625.56  $               604,940.35 10%
4 COOK ADEL                62.87                      5,700 110,484.52$                    $                   113,181.65  $               128,590.70 10%
4 COOK CECIL                  5.33                          283 8,280.71$                         $                        8,383.89  $                    9,511.95 10%
4 COOK LENOX                13.26                          737 20,826.84$                       $                     21,094.67  $                 23,892.57 10%
4 COOK SPARKS                19.42                      2,029 36,135.93$                       $                     36,670.92  $                 41,582.82 10%
3 COWETA (UNINCORPORATED)             996.79                    99,670 1,789,054.84$                 $                1,839,616.07  $            2,103,308.13 30%
3 COWETA GRANTVILLE                27.96                      3,278 54,183.80$                       $                     54,965.68  $                 62,344.94 30%
3 COWETA MORELAND                  4.86                          382 8,298.31$                         $                        8,420.68  $                    9,533.49 30%
3 COWETA NEWNAN             177.72                    44,940 478,575.01$                    $                   495,514.22  $               563,573.69 30%
3 COWETA SENOIA                32.27                      5,929 71,584.29$                       $                     75,258.68  $                 86,847.52 30%
3 COWETA SHARPSBURG                  3.24                          325 5,969.75$                         $                        6,033.66  $                    6,843.81 30%
3 COWETA TURIN                  7.97                          589 12,595.03$                       $                     13,421.40  $                 15,374.23 30%

3
COWETA / 
MERIWETHER

HARALSON                  3.18                          199 4,931.77$                         $                        5,075.78  $                    5,884.34 30%

3 CRAWFORD (UNINCORPORATED)             342.22                    11,493 487,810.88$                    $                   497,449.43  $               564,383.44 30%
3 CRAWFORD ROBERTA                  8.50                          784 15,166.14$                       $                     15,416.86  $                 17,478.15 30%

Page 5 of 21



GDOT 
District

County City
Total 

Mileage*
 Population** 

 2024 LMIG Formula 
Amount 

2025 LMIG Formula 
Amount

2026 LMIG Formula 
Amount

 Required 
LMIG 

Match 
4 CRISP (UNINCORPORATED)             493.70                      9,310 660,844.42$                    $                   674,113.95  $               763,742.67 10%
4 CRISP ARABI                10.89                          453 16,097.78$                       $                     16,388.10  $                 18,565.33 10%
4 CRISP CORDELE             132.11                      9,868 222,834.75$                    $                   226,166.43  $               255,569.13 10%
6 DADE (UNINCORPORATED)             244.53                    13,939 385,191.64$                    $                   391,034.10  $               443,021.38 30%
6 DADE TRENTON                19.98                      2,226 37,864.57$                       $                     38,524.78  $                 43,743.11 30%
1 DAWSON (UNINCORPORATED)             272.69                    27,105 480,755.51$                    $                   497,689.38  $               574,276.97 30%
1 DAWSON DAWSONVILLE                18.33                      4,627 46,694.82$                       $                     49,393.20  $                 58,070.63 30%
4 DECATUR (UNINCORPORATED)             643.46                    13,733 871,056.12$                    $                   888,672.91  $            1,006,515.01 30%
4 DECATUR ATTAPULGUS                  5.10                          447 8,951.94$                         $                        9,134.04  $                 10,324.49 30%
4 DECATUR BAINBRIDGE             125.25                    14,423 227,325.82$                    $                   230,989.57  $               277,468.58 30%
4 DECATUR CLIMAX                  6.69                          270 9,802.99$                         $                     10,014.06  $                 11,347.61 30%
4 DECATUR BRINSON                  5.67                          214 8,238.50$                         $                        8,413.24  $                    9,514.53 30%
7 DEKALB (UNINCORPORATED)          1,405.52                  419,989 4,292,401.06$                 $                4,359,515.36  $            4,905,275.82 30%
7 DEKALB AVONDALE ESTATES                17.46                      3,524 42,689.95$                       $                     43,349.68  $                 49,183.28 30%
7 DEKALB BROOKHAVEN             125.46                    57,945 491,503.22$                    $                   514,365.62  $               579,829.39 30%
7 DEKALB CHAMBLEE                73.70                    31,841 271,923.07$                    $                   276,449.34  $               325,358.03 30%
7 DEKALB CLARKSTON                18.12                    14,396 110,910.68$                    $                   112,384.11  $               125,574.77 30%
7 DEKALB DECATUR                59.07                    24,307 222,216.44$                    $                   224,030.92  $               252,350.99 30%
7 DEKALB DORAVILLE                51.15                    10,780 129,014.27$                    $                   131,094.22  $               147,251.67 30%
7 DEKALB DUNWOODY             145.04                    51,713 488,083.56$                    $                   503,414.35  $               564,303.51 30%
7 DEKALB LITHONIA                12.15                      2,583 30,856.02$                       $                     31,292.20  $                 35,132.82 30%
7 DEKALB PINE LAKE                  6.19                          749 12,042.84$                       $                     12,248.58  $                 13,964.05 30%
7 DEKALB STONE MOUNTAIN                24.03                      6,553 69,758.32$                       $                     70,922.54  $                 79,509.74 30%
7 DEKALB STONECREST             213.93                    60,677 626,960.36$                    $                   644,234.75  $               724,072.83 30%
7 DEKALB TUCKER             170.12                    36,975 432,991.74$                    $                   440,665.73  $               497,530.46 30%
2 DODGE (UNINCORPORATED)             717.70                    11,815 955,104.12$                    $                   969,235.57  $            1,098,334.18 10%
2 DODGE CHAUNCEY                  4.31                          287 7,039.80$                         $                        7,159.72  $                    8,095.29 10%
2 DODGE CHESTER                  4.72                      1,477 8,945.25$                         $                     14,679.77  $                 16,935.06 10%
2 DODGE EASTMAN                54.14                      5,568 100,446.53$                    $                   102,375.13  $               115,312.04 10%
2 DODGE RHINE                  5.95                          291 9,069.24$                         $                        9,232.11  $                 10,445.45 10%
2 DODGE / TELFAIR MILAN                13.20                          606 19,990.34$                       $                     20,235.58  $                 22,898.40 10%
3 DOOLY (UNINCORPORATED)             567.42                      4,140 719,499.98$                    $                   733,811.84  $               832,255.04 10%
3 DOOLY BYROMVILLE                  6.42                          335 10,345.94$                       $                     10,498.15  $                 11,416.40 10%
3 DOOLY DOOLING                  3.64                            64 4,847.00$                         $                        4,940.06  $                    5,598.78 10%
3 DOOLY LILLY                  2.94                          128 4,394.14$                         $                        4,448.86  $                    5,051.70 10%

Page 6 of 21



GDOT 
District

County City
Total 

Mileage*
 Population** 

 2024 LMIG Formula 
Amount 

2025 LMIG Formula 
Amount

2026 LMIG Formula 
Amount

 Required 
LMIG 

Match 
3 DOOLY PINEHURST                  5.93                          300 9,063.10$                         $                        9,225.66  $                 10,479.60 10%
3 DOOLY UNADILLA                24.97                      3,169 47,909.17$                       $                     48,262.42  $                 57,354.30 10%
3 DOOLY VIENNA                28.08                      2,845 52,108.21$                       $                     52,441.92  $                 59,509.65 10%
4 DOUGHERTY (UNINCORPORATED)             289.95                    15,768 450,934.89$                    $                   459,427.54  $               520,034.61 30%
4 DOUGHERTY ALBANY             438.25                    66,877 957,308.50$                    $                   962,040.18  $            1,084,762.55 30%
7 DOUGLAS (UNINCORPORATED)             704.15                  102,148 1,486,878.55$                 $                1,505,872.53  $            1,706,100.16 30%
7 DOUGLAS DOUGLASVILLE             141.28                    39,049 389,832.62$                    $                   410,713.64  $               471,084.79 30%
4 EARLY (UNINCORPORATED)             502.26                      4,706 643,996.25$                    $                   656,102.57  $               743,910.50 30%
4 EARLY BLAKELY                43.94                      5,218 85,784.41$                       $                     87,205.59  $                 98,438.69 30%
4 EARLY DAMASCUS                  4.38                          203 6,685.89$                         $                        6,728.46  $                    7,611.42 30%
4 EARLY JAKIN                  5.74                          128 8,190.25$                         $                        7,969.63  $                    9,016.77 30%
4 ECHOLS (UNINCORPORATED)             158.79                      3,709 215,223.80$                    $                   221,023.78  $               250,604.19 10%
5 EFFINGHAM (UNINCORPORATED)             666.00                    53,708 1,109,620.02$                 $                1,150,199.85  $            1,315,879.38 30%
5 EFFINGHAM GUYTON                25.67                      2,925 46,395.40$                       $                     48,450.53  $                 56,652.09 30%
5 EFFINGHAM RINCON                56.96                    11,624 136,892.77$                    $                   140,571.40  $               161,336.96 30%
5 EFFINGHAM SPRINGFIELD                20.64                      3,284 43,506.80$                       $                     43,936.55  $                 52,020.76 30%
1 ELBERT (UNINCORPORATED)             538.26                    14,362 743,784.74$                    $                   759,475.66  $               861,907.22 30%
1 ELBERT BOWMAN                11.59                          873 19,420.09$                       $                     19,836.91  $                 22,471.59 30%
1 ELBERT ELBERTON                36.85                      4,778 73,611.98$                       $                     75,580.68  $                 85,344.75 30%
2 EMANUEL (UNINCORPORATED)             890.79                    12,096 1,162,763.97$                 $                1,187,341.09  $            1,345,396.59 10%
2 EMANUEL GARFIELD                  4.31                          250 6,820.01$                         $                        6,906.56  $                    7,838.50 10%
2 EMANUEL NUNEZ                  3.67                          132 5,292.73$                         $                        5,403.56  $                    6,113.22 10%
2 EMANUEL OAK PARK                13.27                          510 19,288.34$                       $                     19,699.35  $                 22,331.24 10%
2 EMANUEL STILLMORE                12.16                          447 17,534.45$                       $                     17,918.24  $                 20,322.13 10%
2 EMANUEL SUMMERTOWN                  3.53                          120 5,036.09$                         $                        5,148.49  $                    5,831.68 10%
2 EMANUEL SWAINSBORO                84.72                      7,611 148,925.76$                    $                   152,540.20  $               172,795.66 10%
2 EMANUEL TWIN CITY                19.74                      1,714 34,420.86$                       $                     34,841.46  $                 39,849.72 10%
5 EVANS (UNINCORPORATED)             265.67                      7,060 366,725.17$                    $                   374,794.06  $               425,214.12 10%
5 EVANS BELLVILLE                  1.95                          123 3,147.17$                         $                        3,188.06  $                    3,615.07 10%
5 EVANS CLAXTON                24.86                      2,474 45,997.89$                       $                     46,332.81  $                 52,374.90 10%
5 EVANS DAISY                  5.27                          158 7,401.47$                         $                        7,530.98  $                    8,559.42 10%
5 EVANS HAGAN                10.60                          939 18,753.11$                       $                     19,045.36  $                 21,527.73 10%
6 FANNIN (UNINCORPORATED)             516.71                    23,256 772,562.06$                    $                   787,235.26  $               893,118.94 30%
6 FANNIN BLUE RIDGE                26.38                      1,233 39,846.33$                       $                     40,507.94  $                 45,914.23 30%
6 FANNIN MCCAYSVILLE                13.05                      1,169 23,103.77$                       $                     23,499.87  $                 26,593.48 30%

Page 7 of 21



GDOT 
District

County City
Total 

Mileage*
 Population** 

 2024 LMIG Formula 
Amount 

2025 LMIG Formula 
Amount

2026 LMIG Formula 
Amount

 Required 
LMIG 

Match 
6 FANNIN MORGANTON                  4.73                          297 7,577.70$                         $                        7,721.17  $                    8,759.46 30%
3 FAYETTE (UNINCORPORATED)             508.00                    54,344 950,853.04$                    $                   969,141.51  $            1,096,550.28 30%
3 FAYETTE BROOKS                12.25                          575 18,456.48$                       $                     18,808.61  $                 21,337.96 30%
3 FAYETTE FAYETTEVILLE                95.86                    20,083 234,928.76$                    $                   241,248.84  $               275,132.60 30%
3 FAYETTE PEACHTREE  CITY             197.12                    40,193 457,385.39$                    $                   469,362.09  $               558,099.52 30%
3 FAYETTE TYRONE                70.05                      7,949 133,365.64$                    $                   136,286.30  $               154,367.41 30%
3 FAYETTE WOOLSEY                      -                            207 1,257.68$                         $                        1,278.13  $                    1,436.68 30%
6 FLOYD (UNINCORPORATED)             784.99                    60,798 1,325,012.26$                 $                1,352,670.24  $            1,533,588.68 30%
6 FLOYD CAVE SPRING                11.46                      1,204 21,288.09$                       $                     21,693.67  $                 24,584.80 30%
6 FLOYD ROME             239.35                    38,111 523,045.67$                    $                   532,947.22  $               603,451.20 30%
1 FORSYTH (UNINCORPORATED)          1,237.20                  263,416 3,031,273.89$                 $                3,130,330.18  $            3,580,227.19 30%
1 FORSYTH CUMMING                37.26                      9,471 89,712.05$                       $                     93,881.37  $               118,497.01 30%
1 FRANKLIN (UNINCORPORATED)             445.10                    18,066 653,119.30$                    $                   663,742.56  $               755,691.20 30%
1 FRANKLIN CARNESVILLE                  8.28                          718 13,717.98$                       $                     14,728.48  $                 16,708.54 30%
1 FRANKLIN FRANKLIN SPRINGS                  9.10                      1,167 17,981.56$                       $                     18,500.00  $                 20,986.01 30%
1 FRANKLIN LAVONIA                26.20                      2,167 45,273.69$                       $                     45,982.31  $                 52,141.74 30%
1 FRANKLIN / HART CANON                13.30                          690 20,265.23$                       $                     20,718.57  $                 23,623.01 30%

1
FRANKLIN / HART/ 
MADISON

ROYSTON                25.72                      2,670 47,660.00$                       $                     48,445.57  $                 54,953.07 30%

7 FULTON (UNINCORPORATED)                  4.81                          723 13,994.41$                       $                     10,408.20  $                 11,829.39 30%
7 FULTON ALPHARETTA             222.98                    67,056 676,316.63$                    $                   693,743.25  $               781,161.80 30%
7 FULTON CHATTAHOOCHEE HILLS             116.36                      3,361 161,086.92$                    $                   165,366.15  $               188,103.93 30%
7 FULTON EAST POINT             164.70                    38,115 434,253.39$                    $                   442,623.14  $               497,767.36 30%
7 FULTON FAIRBURN                97.30                    16,661 218,279.52$                    $                   224,198.83  $               253,421.47 30%
7 FULTON HAPEVILLE                31.56                      6,691 78,500.28$                       $                     80,003.38  $                 91,130.73 30%
7 FULTON JOHNS CREEK             226.68                    81,108 778,157.37$                    $                   792,142.39  $               883,928.94 30%
7 FULTON MILTON             181.16                    41,383 473,376.32$                    $                   484,514.29  $               543,757.79 30%
7 FULTON ROSWELL             353.05                    91,706 996,483.72$                    $                1,014,741.66  $            1,136,436.22 30%
7 FULTON SANDY SPRINGS             300.60                  105,793 1,021,911.35$                 $                1,040,716.61  $            1,159,932.46 30%
7 FULTON SOUTH FULTON             580.99                  110,920 1,373,616.18$                 $                1,411,772.72  $            1,592,575.58 30%
7 FULTON UNION CITY                88.68                    27,832 275,450.35$                    $                   282,964.71  $               318,746.79 30%
7 FULTON / CHEROKEE MOUNTAIN PARK                  7.84                          572 13,119.88$                       $                     13,376.40  $                 15,072.15 30%
7 FULTON / CLAYTON COLLEGE PARK                75.27                    13,867  $                   176,793.90  $                   179,894.54  $               202,833.17 30%
7 FULTON / COWETA PALMETTO                44.67                      5,021 85,620.71$                       $                     87,153.84  $                 98,105.16 30%
7 FULTON / DEKALB ATLANTA          1,439.68                  510,823  $                4,791,176.36  $                4,879,603.49  $            5,584,080.94 30%

Page 8 of 21



GDOT 
District

County City
Total 

Mileage*
 Population** 

 2024 LMIG Formula 
Amount 

2025 LMIG Formula 
Amount

2026 LMIG Formula 
Amount

 Required 
LMIG 

Match 
6 GILMER (UNINCORPORATED)             503.72                    29,528 794,826.55$                    $                   810,288.81  $               918,254.52 30%
6 GILMER EAST ELLIJAY                12.48                      1,394 20,489.85$                       $                     22,773.48  $                 27,347.91 30%
6 GILMER ELLIJAY                29.47                      1,938 47,305.52$                       $                     48,694.46  $                 55,183.01 30%
2 GLASCOCK (UNINCORPORATED)             182.05                      2,146 235,487.79$                    $                   240,520.23  $               272,694.63 10%
2 GLASCOCK EDGE HILL                  0.44                            20 660.04$                            $                           679.05  $                       761.89 10%
2 GLASCOCK GIBSON                  4.89                          630 9,824.66$                         $                        9,946.20  $                 11,297.21 10%
2 GLASCOCK MITCHELL                  3.11                          158 4,736.30$                         $                        4,846.36  $                    5,500.66 10%
5 GLYNN (UNINCORPORATED)             536.24                    70,768 1,083,653.16$                 $                1,101,271.63  $            1,250,531.24 30%
5 GLYNN BRUNSWICK             107.09                    15,404 220,238.44$                    $                   227,312.16  $               258,560.88 30%
6 GORDON (UNINCORPORATED)             557.41                    38,594 917,257.18$                    $                   934,940.81  $            1,057,207.10 30%
6 GORDON CALHOUN             115.22                    18,900 246,277.02$                    $                   254,856.96  $               294,337.65 30%
6 GORDON FAIRMOUNT                  9.94                          765 16,877.80$                       $                     17,183.97  $                 19,385.46 30%
6 GORDON PLAINVILLE                  3.50                          353 6,446.35$                         $                        6,562.05  $                    7,406.33 30%
6 GORDON RESACA                  6.18                      1,145 14,698.60$                       $                     14,810.88  $                 16,698.32 30%
4 GRADY (UNINCORPORATED)             601.51                    15,679 829,946.70$                    $                   847,365.34  $               960,615.93 30%
4 GRADY CAIRO                95.24                    10,007 177,581.49$                    $                   180,828.47  $               204,322.38 30%
4 GRADY WHIGHAM                  7.91                          380 12,253.05$                       $                     12,228.89  $                 13,838.70 30%
2 GREENE (UNINCORPORATED)             406.22                    14,565 581,034.14$                    $                   594,006.11  $               676,334.76 30%
2 GREENE GREENSBORO                31.36                      3,605 60,617.79$                       $                     61,402.87  $                 69,429.20 30%
2 GREENE SILOAM                  3.42                          193 5,377.82$                         $                        5,480.41  $                    6,182.56 30%
2 GREENE UNION POINT                18.48                      1,789 32,831.58$                       $                     33,768.37  $                 38,585.98 30%
2 GREENE WHITE PLAINS                  9.80                          269 13,519.72$                       $                     13,853.96  $                 15,744.73 30%
2 GREENE WOODVILLE                  6.46                          301 9,582.85$                         $                        9,844.20  $                 11,237.07 30%
1 GWINNETT (UNINCORPORATED)          2,679.82                  734,709 7,671,744.08$                 $                7,832,697.30  $            8,894,114.41 30%
1 GWINNETT BERKELEY LAKE                  9.79                      2,029 24,490.78$                       $                     24,807.49  $                 27,945.81 30%
1 GWINNETT DACULA                33.51                      7,650 82,433.37$                       $                     86,491.71  $               100,548.04 30%
1 GWINNETT DULUTH                67.26                    32,350 276,791.33$                    $                   281,776.32  $               319,771.07 30%
1 GWINNETT GRAYSON                15.71                      4,975 47,772.92$                       $                     48,963.10  $                 56,775.75 30%
1 GWINNETT LAWRENCEVILLE                96.03                    31,015 303,710.43$                    $                   308,769.97  $               351,246.63 30%
1 GWINNETT LILBURN                44.06                    15,862 146,470.47$                    $                   151,786.95  $               172,483.05 30%
1 GWINNETT NORCROSS                45.10                    18,043 162,846.26$                    $                   165,638.37  $               189,092.97 30%
1 GWINNETT PEACHTREE CORNERS             133.85                    42,136 420,719.79$                    $                   427,277.11  $               481,988.44 30%
1 GWINNETT SNELLVILLE                84.33                    22,067 229,801.08$                    $                   241,282.49  $               272,574.92 30%
1 GWINNETT SUGAR HILL                76.19                    25,889 247,359.47$                    $                   252,007.46  $               287,574.39 30%
1 GWINNETT SUWANEE                67.74                    22,913 213,721.48$                    $                   223,365.38  $               254,953.52 30%

Page 9 of 21



GDOT 
District

County City
Total 

Mileage*
 Population** 

 2024 LMIG Formula 
Amount 

2025 LMIG Formula 
Amount

2026 LMIG Formula 
Amount

 Required 
LMIG 

Match 
1 GWINNETT / HALL BUFORD                85.73                    18,273 212,464.01$                    $                   218,836.96  $               248,225.28 30%
1 GWINNETT / HALL REST HAVEN                  0.32                            45 665.96$                            $                           671.23  $                       765.47 30%
1 HABERSHAM (UNINCORPORATED)             513.50                    33,816 815,301.73$                    $                   844,814.79  $               961,864.71 30%
1 HABERSHAM CLARKESVILLE                15.44                      2,135 30,702.31$                       $                     32,318.97  $                 36,682.45 30%
1 HABERSHAM CORNELIA                37.43                      5,309 74,631.96$                       $                     77,632.40  $                 89,851.48 30%
1 HABERSHAM DEMOREST                19.27                      2,046 37,561.02$                       $                     36,755.31  $                 41,488.39 30%
1 HABERSHAM MOUNT AIRY                14.33                      1,472 28,835.61$                       $                     26,820.78  $                 30,509.04 30%
1 HABERSHAM / BANKS ALTO                  8.60                          996 17,175.72$                       $                     16,869.25  $                 19,091.14 30%
1 HABERSHAM / BANKS BALDWIN                23.87                      4,003 54,418.54$                       $                     53,674.80  $                 61,584.95 30%
1 HALL (UNINCORPORATED)          1,088.21                  141,446 2,174,718.00$                 $                2,223,593.09  $            2,522,713.03 30%
1 HALL CLERMONT                  6.40                      1,126 14,735.57$                       $                     14,937.39  $                 16,877.99 30%
1 HALL FLOWERY BRANCH                37.27                    11,607 107,496.59$                    $                   114,072.46  $               133,336.03 30%
1 HALL GAINESVILLE             159.85                    47,265 460,498.38$                    $                   479,184.26  $               554,404.66 30%
1 HALL OAKWOOD                32.11                      6,412 69,333.78$                       $                     74,201.00  $                 89,973.20 30%
1 HALL / BANKS GILLSVILLE                  3.03                          314 5,554.27$                         $                        5,685.01  $                    6,470.08 30%
1 HALL / BANKS LULA                24.85                      2,993 48,055.51$                       $                     49,322.80  $                 55,962.84 30%
2 HANCOCK (UNINCORPORATED)             498.22                      7,356 653,677.71$                    $                   665,796.92  $               756,581.74 10%
2 HANCOCK SPARTA                14.50                      1,320 25,859.44$                       $                     26,168.60  $                 29,694.83 10%
6 HARALSON (UNINCORPORATED)             486.38                    19,588 705,919.17$                    $                   723,200.33  $               824,711.07 30%
6 HARALSON TALLAPOOSA                46.91                      3,201 77,186.70$                       $                     78,830.31  $                 88,645.55 30%
6 HARALSON WACO                  7.50                          575 12,460.00$                       $                     12,785.17  $                 14,611.50 30%
6 HARALSON BUCHANAN                12.24                          958 20,684.87$                       $                     21,327.69  $                 23,982.00 30%
6 HARALSON / CARROLL BREMEN                61.54                      7,712 120,867.46$                    $                   124,666.66  $               140,671.53 30%
3 HARRIS (UNINCORPORATED)             578.07                    31,626 890,597.63$                    $                   914,082.80  $            1,038,102.41 10%
3 HARRIS HAMILTON                  9.86                      1,763 22,213.64$                       $                     22,993.13  $                 26,198.77 10%
3 HARRIS SHILOH                  7.30                          422 11,458.44$                       $                     11,714.23  $                 13,266.39 10%
3 HARRIS WAVERLY HALL                  8.54                          667 14,238.21$                       $                     14,713.51  $                 16,722.76 10%

3
HARRIS / 
MERIWETHER

PINE MOUNTAIN                22.09                      1,281 34,662.55$                       $                     35,423.15  $                 40,172.32 10%

1 HART (UNINCORPORATED)             562.85                    21,753 814,850.37$                    $                   833,943.88  $               948,026.10 30%
1 HART BOWERSVILLE                10.88                          467 16,036.72$                       $                     16,363.26  $                 18,648.33 30%
1 HART HARTWELL                49.23                      4,638 87,679.00$                       $                     89,414.37  $               101,904.36 30%
3 HEARD (UNINCORPORATED)             351.60                    10,210 489,742.25$                    $                   500,282.24  $               568,761.79 30%
3 HEARD CENTRALHATCHEE                  9.27                          365 13,500.59$                       $                     13,772.62  $                 15,660.49 30%
3 HEARD EPHESUS                11.44                          494 16,904.51$                       $                     17,266.24  $                 19,628.74 30%

Page 10 of 21



GDOT 
District

County City
Total 

Mileage*
 Population** 

 2024 LMIG Formula 
Amount 

2025 LMIG Formula 
Amount

2026 LMIG Formula 
Amount

 Required 
LMIG 

Match 
3 HEARD FRANKLIN                  8.98                          965 16,613.81$                       $                     17,152.31  $                 19,414.11 30%
3 HENRY (UNINCORPORATED)          1,225.84                  166,662 2,522,156.26$                 $                2,579,999.30  $            2,892,621.45 30%
3 HENRY HAMPTON                50.67                      9,162 111,887.13$                    $                   113,275.04  $               135,342.26 30%
3 HENRY LOCUST GROVE                59.44                    11,199 131,914.35$                    $                   140,494.19  $               161,899.17 30%
3 HENRY MCDONOUGH             110.58                    32,138 308,846.45$                    $                   322,047.02  $               379,644.99 30%
3 HENRY STOCKBRIDGE             101.20                    35,452 301,770.76$                    $                   305,815.18  $               389,362.75 30%
3 HOUSTON (UNINCORPORATED)             510.80                    55,641 965,368.74$                    $                   984,338.65  $            1,109,517.15 30%
3 HOUSTON CENTERVILLE                45.16                      8,470 105,536.66$                    $                   108,950.56  $               122,736.76 30%
3 HOUSTON / PEACH PERRY             147.90                    24,029 297,106.12$                    $                   311,412.36  $               376,213.39 30%
3 HOUSTON / PEACH WARNER ROBINS             354.60                    84,537 919,864.25$                    $                   946,512.70  $            1,088,874.90 30%
4 IRWIN (UNINCORPORATED)             461.38                      6,171 600,090.86$                    $                   613,926.69  $               696,188.28 10%
4 IRWIN OCILLA                35.54                      2,949 66,161.61$                       $                     62,874.04  $                 70,795.53 10%
1 JACKSON (UNINCORPORATED)             610.42                    47,313 1,011,140.79$                 $                1,037,991.59  $            1,192,788.39 30%
1 JACKSON ARCADE                18.98                      1,980 34,944.75$                       $                     35,639.93  $                 40,619.66 30%
1 JACKSON COMMERCE                62.73                      8,287 123,116.00$                    $                   125,911.68  $               146,347.46 30%
1 JACKSON HOSCHTON                19.49                      5,388 45,312.19$                       $                     50,823.97  $                 64,995.01 30%
1 JACKSON JEFFERSON                86.94                    15,756 190,871.07$                    $                   202,937.14  $               232,469.58 30%
1 JACKSON NICHOLSON                15.74                      1,878 30,556.25$                       $                     31,075.82  $                 35,323.57 30%
1 JACKSON PENDERGRASS                  9.65                      1,805 18,692.05$                       $                     19,058.14  $                 26,192.89 30%
1 JACKSON TALMO                  4.38                          290 7,076.54$                         $                        7,203.90  $                    8,215.24 30%

1
JACKSON / GWINNETT 
/ BARROW / HALL 

BRASELTON                41.75                    15,538 141,078.82$                   
 $                   143,851.91  $               166,963.16 

30%

2 JASPER (UNINCORPORATED)             467.28                    13,336 646,927.02$                    $                   663,275.32  $               754,271.76 30%
2 JASPER MONTICELLO                23.11                      2,833 44,401.93$                       $                     45,841.24  $                 52,388.36 30%
2 JASPER SHADY DALE                  4.25                          286 6,777.18$                         $                        7,078.63  $                    8,003.39 30%
5 JEFF DAVIS (UNINCORPORATED)             521.54                    10,647 702,451.28$                    $                   716,790.62  $               812,446.22 10%
5 JEFF DAVIS DENTON                  5.79                          188 8,226.47$                         $                        8,390.18  $                    9,504.01 10%
5 JEFF DAVIS HAZLEHURST                47.65                      4,071 83,073.25$                       $                     84,669.22  $                 95,731.68 10%
2 JEFFERSON (UNINCORPORATED)             544.91                      8,405 718,476.55$                    $                   732,602.35  $               829,979.84 10%
2 JEFFERSON AVERA                  4.35                          215 6,649.12$                         $                        6,771.27  $                    7,652.22 10%
2 JEFFERSON BARTOW                  4.14                          179 6,184.81$                         $                        6,286.78  $                    7,104.98 10%
2 JEFFERSON LOUISVILLE                24.97                      2,289 44,942.03$                       $                     45,490.04  $                 51,246.68 10%
2 JEFFERSON STAPLETON                10.29                          399 14,991.82$                       $                     15,299.34  $                 17,340.88 10%
2 JEFFERSON WADLEY                24.31                      1,569 39,623.38$                       $                     40,201.76  $                 45,314.91 10%

Page 11 of 21



GDOT 
District

County City
Total 

Mileage*
 Population** 

 2024 LMIG Formula 
Amount 

2025 LMIG Formula 
Amount

2026 LMIG Formula 
Amount

 Required 
LMIG 

Match 
2 JEFFERSON WRENS                27.53                      2,127 46,966.77$                       $                     47,630.59  $                 53,747.53 10%
2 JENKINS (UNINCORPORATED)             417.20                      5,667 544,936.02$                    $                   556,306.30  $               630,127.13 10%
2 JENKINS MILLEN                28.94                      2,960 53,293.93$                       $                     54,392.50  $                 61,525.64 10%
2 JOHNSON (UNINCORPORATED)             422.68                      5,212 549,553.79$                    $                   560,092.19  $               634,729.43 10%
2 JOHNSON KITE                  3.82                          158 5,671.48$                         $                        5,763.74  $                    6,506.08 10%
2 JOHNSON WRIGHTSVILLE                21.83                      3,586 46,890.91$                       $                     48,978.92  $                 55,801.94 10%
2 JOHNSON / EMANUEL ADRIAN                  7.41                          565 12,392.70$                       $                     12,716.01  $                 14,414.64 10%
3 JONES (UNINCORPORATED)             476.23                    25,456 734,837.45$                    $                   749,260.11  $               851,064.40 30%
3 JONES GRAY                29.97                      3,513 57,440.95$                       $                     58,580.60  $                 66,822.31 30%
3 LAMAR (UNINCORPORATED)             324.94                    13,073 468,722.38$                    $                   481,521.28  $               550,879.24 30%
3 LAMAR ALDORA                  2.07                          185 2,530.72$                         $                        2,584.59  $                    4,215.31 30%
3 LAMAR BARNESVILLE                44.86                      6,329 93,594.07$                       $                     93,914.71  $               107,452.37 30%
3 LAMAR MILNER                11.01                          814 18,198.16$                       $                     18,655.80  $                 21,240.77 30%
4 LANIER (UNINCORPORATED)             225.96                      7,444 319,886.28$                    $                   326,700.44  $               371,646.07 10%
4 LANIER LAKELAND                23.52                      3,008 45,617.50$                       $                     47,600.42  $                 54,183.54 10%
2 LAURENS (UNINCORPORATED)          1,160.88                    29,232 1,595,180.77$                 $                1,629,251.37  $            1,846,802.10 10%
2 LAURENS CADWELL                  5.68                          419 9,264.19$                         $                        9,555.67  $                 10,951.49 10%
2 LAURENS DEXTER                  8.07                          663 13,858.97$                       $                     14,145.19  $                 16,029.43 10%
2 LAURENS DUBLIN             139.44                    16,008 268,237.43$                    $                   271,889.33  $               308,563.65 10%
2 LAURENS DUDLEY                11.56                          595 17,735.01$                       $                     18,095.27  $                 20,499.66 10%
2 LAURENS EAST DUBLIN                31.12                      2,499 53,181.27$                       $                     54,218.57  $                 61,413.17 10%
2 LAURENS MONTROSE                  5.40                          206 7,816.82$                         $                        8,008.20  $                    9,076.66 10%
2 LAURENS RENTZ                  6.12                          314 9,362.55$                         $                        9,561.69  $                 10,845.82 10%
4 LEE (UNINCORPORATED)             418.98                    29,702 690,908.06$                    $                   704,454.79  $               799,462.14 30%
4 LEE LEESBURG                23.29                      3,553 49,878.59$                       $                     50,857.44  $                 57,640.40 30%
4 LEE SMITHVILLE                11.12                          617 17,239.81$                       $                     17,626.16  $                 20,029.27 30%
5 LIBERTY (UNINCORPORATED)             240.90                    24,233 427,415.90$                    $                   448,623.95  $               509,326.22 30%
5 LIBERTY ALLENHURST                  5.94                          856 12,335.51$                       $                     12,621.81  $                 14,352.66 30%
5 LIBERTY FLEMINGTON                11.39                          864 19,053.47$                       $                     19,488.39  $                 22,125.91 30%
5 LIBERTY GUM BRANCH                  3.60                          254 5,897.04$                         $                        6,032.41  $                    6,860.83 30%
5 LIBERTY HINESVILLE             146.62                    36,181 391,710.35$                    $                   400,777.78  $               458,741.46 30%
5 LIBERTY MIDWAY                15.92                      2,253 32,833.77$                       $                     33,566.63  $                 38,181.15 30%
5 LIBERTY RICEBORO                15.07                          656 22,264.34$                       $                     22,792.74  $                 25,893.53 30%
5 LIBERTY WALTHOURVILLE                21.42                      3,913 49,326.28$                       $                     50,455.21  $                 57,490.87 30%
2 LINCOLN (UNINCORPORATED)             278.97                      6,460 381,577.68$                    $                   389,966.99  $               439,883.92 10%

Page 12 of 21



GDOT 
District

County City
Total 

Mileage*
 Population** 

 2024 LMIG Formula 
Amount 

2025 LMIG Formula 
Amount

2026 LMIG Formula 
Amount

 Required 
LMIG 

Match 
2 LINCOLN LINCOLNTON                17.87                      1,419 30,767.08$                       $                     31,253.15  $                 35,154.18 10%
5 LONG (UNINCORPORATED)             280.59                    17,748 437,592.88$                    $                   452,952.02  $               520,522.09 30%
5 LONG LUDOWICI                15.29                      1,846 28,858.31$                       $                     29,773.00  $                 34,464.24 30%
4 LOWNDES (UNINCORPORATED)             805.26                    58,552 1,337,694.10$                 $                1,366,958.46  $            1,546,704.65 10%
4 LOWNDES DASHER                10.86                          926 10,702.90$                       $                     13,609.31  $                 21,805.69 10%
4 LOWNDES HAHIRA                26.08                      3,459 49,292.52$                       $                     53,604.74  $                 60,938.91 10%
4 LOWNDES LAKE PARK                10.93                      1,485 20,499.71$                       $                     22,365.62  $                 25,784.54 10%
4 LOWNDES REMERTON                  2.31                      1,265 10,773.14$                       $                     10,787.69  $                 12,050.89 10%
4 LOWNDES VALDOSTA             289.45                    55,025 691,899.50$                    $                   700,214.83  $               791,788.86 10%
1 LUMPKIN (UNINCORPORATED)             396.64                    27,673 651,138.44$                    $                   664,024.19  $               753,744.32 30%
1 LUMPKIN DAHLONEGA                34.99                      7,585 83,401.91$                       $                     89,756.72  $               102,192.73 30%
3 MACON (UNINCORPORATED)             418.07                      6,580 550,627.36$                    $                   561,733.29  $               637,695.79 10%
3 MACON IDEAL                  6.91                          399 10,871.74$                       $                     11,091.44  $                 12,554.48 10%
3 MACON MARSHALLVILLE                11.99                          987 21,087.43$                       $                     21,200.78  $                 23,829.25 10%
3 MACON MONTEZUMA                33.46                      2,898 59,686.90$                       $                     60,042.33  $                 67,496.09 10%
3 MACON OGLETHORPE                14.46                          953 23,826.34$                       $                     24,006.96  $                 27,091.03 10%
1 MADISON (UNINCORPORATED)             594.35                    28,188 892,331.10$                    $                   913,255.30  $            1,037,295.10 30%
1 MADISON CARLTON                  5.55                          287 8,366.52$                         $                        8,522.74  $                    9,851.25 30%
1 MADISON COLBERT                  9.65                          667 15,754.00$                       $                     16,087.10  $                 18,294.63 30%
1 MADISON COMER                15.83                      1,599 29,005.66$                       $                     29,428.44  $                 33,514.63 30%
1 MADISON DANIELSVILLE                  9.72                          834 15,943.37$                       $                     16,322.69  $                 19,552.82 30%
1 MADISON HULL                  2.70                          236 4,723.46$                         $                        4,816.05  $                    5,461.41 30%
1 MADISON ILA                  4.20                          378 7,351.00$                         $                        7,522.51  $                    8,571.11 30%
3 MARION (UNINCORPORATED)             354.13                      5,901 469,202.05$                    $                   478,545.36  $               542,438.00 10%
3 MARION BUENA VISTA                11.60                      1,539 23,351.87$                       $                     24,097.49  $                 27,108.11 10%
2 MCDUFFIE (UNINCORPORATED)             375.62                    14,403 546,105.68$                    $                   557,453.89  $               631,877.85 10%
2 MCDUFFIE DEARING                  6.93                          536 11,689.87$                       $                     11,919.10  $                 13,533.64 10%
2 MCDUFFIE THOMSON                49.10                      6,860 102,197.27$                    $                   103,875.88  $               117,142.01 10%
5 MCINTOSH (UNINCORPORATED)             269.76                      9,823 388,447.64$                    $                   396,232.53  $               450,182.49 30%
5 MCINTOSH DARIEN                21.94                      1,678 36,084.84$                       $                     37,014.13  $                 42,715.28 30%
3 MERIWETHER (UNINCORPORATED)             595.36                    14,258 818,184.69$                    $                   830,548.14  $               942,044.52 30%
3 MERIWETHER GAY                  3.33                          116 4,767.16$                         $                        4,911.12  $                    5,520.70 30%
3 MERIWETHER GREENVILLE                10.49                          799 17,684.53$                       $                     17,975.66  $                 20,400.29 30%
3 MERIWETHER LONE OAK                  1.35                          115 2,346.47$                         $                        2,370.98  $                    2,709.89 30%
3 MERIWETHER LUTHERSVILLE                  6.05                          814 12,152.52$                       $                     12,536.87  $                 14,216.93 30%

Page 13 of 21



GDOT 
District

County City
Total 

Mileage*
 Population** 

 2024 LMIG Formula 
Amount 

2025 LMIG Formula 
Amount

2026 LMIG Formula 
Amount

 Required 
LMIG 

Match 
3 MERIWETHER WARM SPRINGS                  5.19                          443 9,605.33$                         $                        9,258.76  $                 10,424.17 30%
3 MERIWETHER WOODBURY                11.66                          865 19,780.41$                       $                     20,115.72  $                 22,515.20 30%

3
MERIWETHER / 
TALBOT

MANCHESTER                45.66                      3,528 77,575.51$                       $                     78,936.70  $                 89,144.97 30%

4 MILLER (UNINCORPORATED)             364.29                      3,853 469,705.99$                    $                   478,857.26  $               542,611.44 30%
4 MILLER COLQUITT                26.36                      1,894 44,028.38$                       $                     44,761.94  $                 50,473.57 30%
4 MITCHELL (UNINCORPORATED)             629.56                    11,359 842,028.98$                    $                   855,942.79  $               970,354.58 30%
4 MITCHELL BACONTON                10.67                          850 18,099.96$                       $                     18,521.48  $                 21,009.15 30%
4 MITCHELL CAMILLA                44.89                      5,089 85,688.17$                       $                     87,860.75  $                 98,888.66 30%
4 MITCHELL PELHAM                36.66                      3,432 65,674.90$                       $                     66,871.95  $                 75,733.81 30%
4 MITCHELL SALE  CITY                  7.43                          350 11,183.90$                       $                     11,444.33  $                 12,950.76 30%
3 MONROE (UNINCORPORATED)             481.89                    25,505 735,621.42$                    $                   752,850.88  $               859,419.59 30%
3 MONROE CULLODEN                  4.53                          219 6,808.13$                         $                        6,965.14  $                    7,934.88 30%
3 MONROE FORSYTH                38.58                      4,901 74,713.56$                       $                     77,394.97  $                 88,648.28 30%
5 MONTGOMERY (UNINCORPORATED)             320.52                      5,116 423,087.67$                    $                   431,183.52  $               489,394.72 10%
5 MONTGOMERY AILEY                14.34                          528 20,724.71$                       $                     21,134.14  $                 23,971.40 10%
5 MONTGOMERY ALSTON                  7.97                          177 10,812.31$                       $                     11,050.37  $                 12,514.75 10%
5 MONTGOMERY HIGGSTON                  4.87                          316 7,870.96$                         $                        8,013.29  $                    9,089.58 10%
5 MONTGOMERY MOUNT VERNON                28.06                      1,975 46,473.06$                       $                     47,273.54  $                 53,443.11 10%
5 MONTGOMERY TARRYTOWN                  4.89                            65 6,369.11$                         $                        6,494.63  $                    7,375.84 10%
5 MONTGOMERY UVALDA                  9.91                          448 14,814.19$                       $                     15,096.55  $                 17,142.85 10%
2 MORGAN (UNINCORPORATED)             448.18                    14,980 635,187.91$                    $                   649,953.69  $               738,634.46 30%
2 MORGAN BOSTWICK                  9.80                          394 14,295.08$                       $                     14,631.96  $                 16,612.29 30%
2 MORGAN BUCKHEAD                  4.49                          206 6,679.86$                         $                        6,847.28  $                    7,788.01 30%
2 MORGAN MADISON                41.64                      4,964 80,786.82$                       $                     82,351.79  $                 93,418.78 30%
2 MORGAN RUTLEDGE                12.38                          916 20,477.50$                       $                     20,959.14  $                 23,888.75 30%
6 MURRAY (UNINCORPORATED)             447.47                    35,306 756,650.23$                    $                   773,379.73  $               878,701.17 30%
6 MURRAY CHATSWORTH                40.15                      4,883 78,415.72$                       $                     80,207.36  $                 90,746.62 30%
6 MURRAY ETON                10.01                          846 17,280.85$                       $                     17,660.36  $                 20,046.77 30%
3 MUSCOGEE COLUMBUS-MUSCOGEE             968.07                  201,877 2,436,084.31$                 $                2,457,256.97  $            2,772,003.15 10%
2 NEWTON (UNINCORPORATED)             766.68                  100,074 1,521,602.84$                 $                1,561,928.68  $            1,780,254.12 30%
2 NEWTON COVINGTON                95.89                    14,677 205,055.92$                    $                   208,524.09  $               237,654.87 30%
2 NEWTON MANSFIELD                  7.30                          469 11,690.44$                       $                     11,973.56  $                 13,592.59 30%
2 NEWTON NEWBORN                  8.03                          731 14,072.59$                       $                     14,428.68  $                 16,444.74 30%
2 NEWTON OXFORD                13.00                      2,294 29,782.80$                       $                     30,352.95  $                 34,330.71 30%

Page 14 of 21



GDOT 
District

County City
Total 

Mileage*
 Population** 

 2024 LMIG Formula 
Amount 

2025 LMIG Formula 
Amount

2026 LMIG Formula 
Amount

 Required 
LMIG 

Match 
2 NEWTON PORTERDALE                13.06                      1,884 27,127.13$                       $                     27,698.71  $                 31,570.08 30%
1 OCONEE (UNINCORPORATED)             417.49                    38,421 742,287.66$                    $                   756,310.42  $               857,866.18 30%
1 OCONEE BISHOP                  2.89                          344 5,621.22$                         $                        5,732.49  $                    6,480.04 30%
1 OCONEE NORTH HIGH SHOALS                  7.60                          546 12,692.15$                       $                     12,885.33  $                 14,551.83 30%
1 OCONEE WATKINSVILLE                20.99                      3,631 43,592.81$                       $                     47,108.89  $                 54,924.74 30%
1 OCONEE / CLARKE BOGART                14.84                      1,350 26,482.69$                       $                     26,914.20  $                 30,384.52 30%
2 OGLETHORPE (UNINCORPORATED)             491.42                    13,987 681,872.42$                    $                   697,629.81  $               792,974.58 30%
2 OGLETHORPE ARNOLDSVILLE                  2.07                          458 5,253.65$                         $                        5,369.32  $                    6,110.06 30%
2 OGLETHORPE CRAWFORD                  5.14                          880 11,638.30$                       $                     11,709.37  $                 13,386.36 30%
2 OGLETHORPE LEXINGTON                  3.06                          213 4,998.74$                         $                        5,111.18  $                    5,811.58 30%
2 OGLETHORPE MAXEYS                  3.20                          216 5,139.38$                         $                        5,285.99  $                    6,030.65 30%
6 PAULDING (UNINCORPORATED)          1,006.82                  162,616 2,155,738.95$                 $                2,219,757.32  $            2,554,386.83 30%
6 PAULDING DALLAS                54.11                    14,985 154,208.93$                    $                   158,716.48  $               180,628.02 30%
6 PAULDING HIRAM                18.42                      5,353 53,534.28$                       $                     55,162.39  $                 63,236.87 30%
6 PAULDING / POLK BRASWELL                  3.95                          369 7,057.56$                         $                        7,179.49  $                    8,154.62 30%
3 PEACH (UNINCORPORATED)             202.58                    13,102 327,280.60$                    $                   333,715.91  $               377,806.95 30%
3 PEACH BYRON                58.87                      6,132 107,254.39$                    $                   110,348.37  $               125,924.60 30%
3 PEACH FORT VALLEY                54.04                      8,868 120,178.33$                    $                   122,044.81  $               138,074.00 30%
6 PICKENS (UNINCORPORATED)             400.96                    30,340 668,114.50$                    $                   683,706.05  $               778,372.11 30%
6 PICKENS JASPER                42.02                      4,970 77,228.06$                       $                     80,374.96  $                 93,998.54 30%
6 PICKENS TALKING ROCK                  2.09                            92 3,110.75$                         $                        3,189.97  $                    3,598.17 30%
6 PICKENS / CHEROKEE NELSON                11.08                      1,168 20,652.57$                       $                     21,052.49  $                 23,796.83 30%
5 PIERCE (UNINCORPORATED)             610.23                    15,540 838,989.63$                    $                   856,746.50  $               971,999.56 10%
5 PIERCE BLACKSHEAR                41.20                      3,646 71,964.11$                       $                     73,565.55  $                 83,648.15 10%
5 PIERCE OFFERMAN                14.25                          460 20,187.31$                       $                     20,620.42  $                 23,371.99 10%
5 PIERCE PATTERSON                13.15                          773 20,728.99$                       $                     21,142.56  $                 23,986.66 10%
3 PIKE (UNINCORPORATED)             351.22                    17,284 529,840.75$                    $                   542,764.04  $               617,320.61 30%
3 PIKE CONCORD                  5.30                          407 8,860.66$                         $                        9,087.38  $                 10,330.09 30%
3 PIKE MEANSVILLE                  2.01                          284 4,105.78$                         $                        4,195.33  $                    4,817.45 30%
3 PIKE MOLENA                  6.30                          421 10,162.60$                       $                     10,410.07  $                 11,843.35 30%
3 PIKE WILLIAMSON                10.12                          741 15,411.23$                       $                     17,112.33  $                 19,473.79 30%
3 PIKE ZEBULON                12.35                      1,324 22,259.55$                       $                     23,428.55  $                 26,677.98 30%
6 POLK (UNINCORPORATED)             518.75                    26,999 797,560.24$                    $                   811,426.96  $               921,985.98 30%
6 POLK ARAGON                  9.74                      1,502 20,882.52$                       $                     21,274.96  $                 24,217.38 30%
6 POLK CEDARTOWN                75.12                    10,300 154,552.40$                    $                   157,256.56  $               177,864.08 30%

Page 15 of 21



GDOT 
District

County City
Total 

Mileage*
 Population** 

 2024 LMIG Formula 
Amount 

2025 LMIG Formula 
Amount

2026 LMIG Formula 
Amount

 Required 
LMIG 

Match 
6 POLK ROCKMART                40.97                      5,231 79,485.42$                       $                     83,565.19  $                 94,323.11 30%
3 PULASKI (UNINCORPORATED)             267.16                      5,995 362,765.11$                    $                   370,239.10  $               419,932.49 30%
3 PULASKI HAWKINSVILLE                36.92                      4,100 69,539.90$                       $                     71,080.38  $                 80,738.24 30%
2 PUTNAM (UNINCORPORATED)             424.52                    16,550 617,611.48$                    $                   631,557.02  $               716,026.17 30%
2 PUTNAM EATONTON                62.40                      6,579 115,679.46$                    $                   118,324.80  $               134,025.82 30%
4 QUITMAN GEORGETOWN-QUITMAN             159.21                      2,280 208,339.62$                    $                   212,675.35  $               241,281.01 10%
1 RABUN (UNINCORPORATED)             361.09                    13,067 519,269.42$                    $                   530,500.71  $               602,029.49 30%
1 RABUN CLAYTON                21.76                      2,063 39,027.28$                       $                     39,642.03  $                 45,132.46 30%
1 RABUN DILLARD                  6.40                          334 9,869.71$                         $                     10,059.48  $                 11,381.14 30%
1 RABUN MOUNTAIN  CITY                  9.91                          939 17,775.22$                       $                     18,091.22  $                 20,550.62 30%
1 RABUN SKY VALLEY                29.24                          487 37,749.34$                       $                     38,523.63  $                 44,786.67 30%
1 RABUN TIGER                  5.79                          429 10,045.83$                       $                        9,859.73  $                 11,176.66 30%

1 RABUN / HABERSHAM TALLULAH FALLS                  9.12                          206 16,197.56$                       $                     12,622.10  $                 14,344.54 30%

4 RANDOLPH (UNINCORPORATED)             380.08                      2,339 479,095.52$                    $                   489,076.10  $               554,463.73 10%
4 RANDOLPH CUTHBERT                29.87                      2,915 55,389.45$                       $                     55,442.55  $                 62,530.29 10%
4 RANDOLPH SHELLMAN                13.84                          824 22,012.14$                       $                     22,386.91  $                 25,317.73 10%
2 RICHMOND AUGUSTA-RICHMOND          1,073.23                  200,884 2,534,101.07$                 $                2,582,351.79  $            2,914,027.96 10%
2 RICHMOND HEPHZIBAH                45.45                      3,815 78,655.82$                       $                     80,409.54  $                 90,839.50 10%
2 RICHMOND / BURKE BLYTHE                  6.75                          770 12,800.75$                       $                     13,133.03  $                 14,902.82 10%
7 ROCKDALE (UNINCORPORATED)             522.94                    76,482 1,106,685.94$                 $                1,128,739.32  $            1,271,355.04 30%
7 ROCKDALE CONYERS                74.69                    19,505 198,204.05$                    $                   203,942.69  $               241,142.25 30%
3 SCHLEY (UNINCORPORATED)             175.72                      2,985 232,688.04$                    $                   237,618.02  $               269,553.80 10%
3 SCHLEY ELLAVILLE                20.09                      1,541 34,042.87$                       $                     34,630.14  $                 39,144.65 10%
5 SCREVEN (UNINCORPORATED)             619.04                    10,550 820,760.64$                    $                   837,145.50  $               949,842.40 30%
5 SCREVEN HILTONIA                  5.28                          314 8,347.80$                         $                        8,512.87  $                    9,656.30 30%
5 SCREVEN NEWINGTON                  4.00                          295 6,642.48$                         $                        6,760.30  $                    7,711.83 30%
5 SCREVEN OLIVER                  2.66                          218 4,540.24$                         $                        4,630.27  $                    5,279.84 30%
5 SCREVEN ROCKY FORD                  2.35                          167 3,868.19$                         $                        3,959.17  $                    4,486.89 30%
5 SCREVEN SYLVANIA                37.73                      2,630 62,373.61$                       $                     63,175.68  $                 71,682.77 30%
4 SEMINOLE (UNINCORPORATED)             337.00                      5,960 448,882.01$                    $                   457,625.10  $               518,589.76 30%
4 SEMINOLE DONALSONVILLE                31.72                      2,826 53,844.95$                       $                     54,857.07  $                 64,532.37 30%
4 SEMINOLE IRON CITY                  5.84                          306 9,087.38$                         $                        9,236.78  $                 10,393.79 30%
3 SPALDING (UNINCORPORATED)             540.74                    45,669 926,050.38$                    $                   953,020.29  $            1,082,704.64 30%
3 SPALDING GRIFFIN             139.13                    24,044 314,882.21$                    $                   320,460.31  $               363,898.33 30%

Page 16 of 21



GDOT 
District

County City
Total 

Mileage*
 Population** 

 2024 LMIG Formula 
Amount 

2025 LMIG Formula 
Amount

2026 LMIG Formula 
Amount

 Required 
LMIG 

Match 
3 SPALDING ORCHARD HILL                  2.42                          233 4,307.88$                         $                        4,417.05  $                    5,044.08 30%
1 STEPHENS (UNINCORPORATED)             337.08                    17,347 519,162.74$                    $                   526,127.85  $               597,734.25 30%
1 STEPHENS AVALON                  4.49                          238 6,936.28$                         $                        7,069.56  $                    8,010.11 30%
1 STEPHENS TOCCOA                86.05                      9,303 161,297.04$                    $                   163,914.10  $               186,422.36 30%
1 STEPHENS / FRANKLIN MARTIN                10.86                          344 15,346.80$                       $                     15,659.09  $                 17,766.33 30%
3 STEWART (UNINCORPORATED)             288.25                      2,349 370,074.78$                    $                   374,152.14  $               424,492.99 10%
3 STEWART LUMPKIN                14.49                          919 23,649.33$                       $                     23,791.26  $                 26,897.54 10%
3 STEWART RICHLAND                17.87                      1,406 30,876.97$                       $                     31,067.91  $                 35,063.95 10%
3 SUMTER (UNINCORPORATED)             538.87                    11,944 732,344.49$                    $                   746,813.81  $               845,988.97 10%
3 SUMTER AMERICUS                87.40                    15,703 204,469.11$                    $                   205,709.64  $               232,753.14 10%
3 SUMTER ANDERSONVILLE                  5.34                          234 7,963.26$                         $                        8,118.52  $                    9,186.03 10%
3 SUMTER DESOTO                  3.04                          120 4,449.24$                         $                        4,549.02  $                    5,137.79 10%
3 SUMTER LESLIE                  6.37                          337 9,869.66$                         $                     10,046.72  $                 11,359.48 10%
3 SUMTER PLAINS                  4.56                          552 8,951.11$                         $                        9,132.82  $                 10,288.54 10%
3 TALBOT (UNINCORPORATED)             331.17                      4,377 431,705.35$                    $                   440,671.35  $               499,347.14 10%
3 TALBOT GENEVA                  2.27                            75 3,227.02$                         $                        3,297.40  $                    3,735.07 10%
3 TALBOT JUNCTION CITY                  9.10                          137 11,967.92$                       $                     12,214.30  $                 13,837.32 10%
3 TALBOT TALBOTTON                  9.35                          736 15,948.91$                       $                     16,237.36  $                 18,348.69 10%
3 TALBOT WOODLAND                  5.87                          299 9,020.27$                         $                        9,187.79  $                 10,387.69 10%
2 TALIAFERRO (UNINCORPORATED)             164.62                      1,007 207,187.89$                    $                   211,730.57  $               240,106.86 10%
2 TALIAFERRO CRAWFORDVILLE                  8.25                          491 13,022.83$                       $                     13,326.44  $                 15,090.57 10%
2 TALIAFERRO SHARON                  2.51                          111 3,715.81$                         $                        3,800.83  $                    4,324.80 10%
5 TATTNALL (UNINCORPORATED)             728.86                    15,544 989,176.58$                    $                1,005,344.25  $            1,140,018.85 10%
5 TATTNALL COBBTOWN                  9.11                          342 13,127.93$                       $                     13,486.40  $                 15,274.28 10%
5 TATTNALL COLLINS                  7.46                          540 12,282.89$                       $                     12,673.48  $                 14,311.94 10%
5 TATTNALL GLENNVILLE                42.66                      5,245 74,786.95$                       $                     84,440.40  $                 96,813.48 10%
5 TATTNALL MANASSAS                  3.04                            62 4,070.72$                         $                        4,172.38  $                    4,735.24 10%
5 TATTNALL REIDSVILLE                33.50                      2,563 56,011.77$                       $                     57,671.84  $                 65,227.67 10%
3 TAYLOR (UNINCORPORATED)             396.49                      5,023 515,611.50$                    $                   525,928.12  $               596,330.11 10%
3 TAYLOR BUTLER                22.43                      1,832 38,466.62$                       $                     39,286.90  $                 44,478.00 10%
3 TAYLOR REYNOLDS                15.30                          903 24,413.72$                       $                     24,722.35  $                 27,933.53 10%
5 TELFAIR (UNINCORPORATED)             403.90                      4,671 523,779.37$                    $                   533,049.99  $               604,380.34 10%
5 TELFAIR JACKSONVILLE                  0.88                          106 1,777.96$                         $                        1,753.27  $                    1,981.86 10%
5 TELFAIR LUMBER CITY                15.59                          954 25,293.32$                       $                     25,343.77  $                 28,698.16 10%
5 TELFAIR / WHEELER MCRAE-HELENA                59.57                      4,759 108,867.70$                    $                   112,728.98  $               117,386.60 10%

Page 17 of 21



GDOT 
District

County City
Total 

Mileage*
 Population** 

 2024 LMIG Formula 
Amount 

2025 LMIG Formula 
Amount

2026 LMIG Formula 
Amount

 Required 
LMIG 

Match 
5 TELFAIR / WHEELER SCOTLAND                  5.54                          168 7,884.20$                         $                        7,954.54  $                    9,011.17 10%
4 TERRELL (UNINCORPORATED)             368.96                      3,827 475,049.08$                    $                   484,385.65  $               549,044.16 30%
4 TERRELL BRONWOOD                  5.98                          315 9,301.28$                         $                        9,411.58  $                 10,654.51 30%
4 TERRELL DAWSON                33.62                      4,200 67,459.09$                       $                     68,022.05  $                 76,759.17 30%
4 TERRELL PARROTT                  5.63                          106 7,579.07$                         $                        7,714.96  $                    8,708.31 30%
4 TERRELL SASSER                  4.67                          270 7,424.98$                         $                        7,504.24  $                    8,487.10 30%
4 THOMAS (UNINCORPORATED)             625.65                    23,159 906,880.41$                    $                   924,136.69  $            1,046,715.27 30%
4 THOMAS BOSTON                18.21                      1,216 29,644.24$                       $                     30,263.70  $                 34,226.74 30%
4 THOMAS COOLIDGE                  6.78                          529 11,530.91$                       $                     11,756.51  $                 13,272.65 30%
4 THOMAS OCHLOCKNEE                  6.10                          673 11,548.18$                       $                     11,802.78  $                 13,309.13 30%
4 THOMAS THOMASVILLE             153.47                    18,558 302,827.46$                    $                   305,604.20  $               346,129.69 30%
4 THOMAS / BROOKS PAVO                10.30                          607 16,396.04$                       $                     16,614.66  $                 18,798.66 30%
4 THOMAS / MITCHELL MEIGS                  9.51                          928 17,286.19$                       $                     17,635.00  $                 19,907.84 30%
4 TIFT (UNINCORPORATED)             554.10                    22,274 812,278.98$                    $                   829,162.37  $               939,251.24 10%
4 TIFT TIFTON             134.38                    17,357 269,512.62$                    $                   274,315.83  $               310,760.90 10%
4 TIFT TY TY                  7.43                          639 12,893.36$                       $                     13,210.25  $                 14,956.56 10%
4 TIFT / COLQUITT OMEGA                15.16                      1,320 26,440.44$                       $                     27,085.29  $                 30,629.45 10%
5 TOOMBS (UNINCORPORATED)             515.82                    12,038 701,182.07$                    $                   717,800.44  $               814,000.35 10%
5 TOOMBS LYONS                50.71                      4,195 87,705.68$                       $                     89,132.07  $               100,925.55 10%
5 TOOMBS SANTA CLAUS                  2.55                          202 4,363.02$                         $                        4,425.00  $                    5,013.02 10%

5
TOOMBS / 
MONTGOMERY

VIDALIA             116.46                    10,741 207,767.58$                    $                   211,281.54  $               239,466.26 10%

1 TOWNS (UNINCORPORATED)             224.80                    11,229 339,054.89$                    $                   349,499.56  $               396,273.10 30%
1 TOWNS HIAWASSEE                11.42                      1,002 20,244.04$                       $                     20,538.48  $                 23,126.18 30%
1 TOWNS YOUNG HARRIS                  5.00                          804 14,214.48$                       $                     11,244.37  $                 12,660.63 30%
2 TREUTLEN (UNINCORPORATED)             274.00                      3,442 351,835.75$                    $                   363,466.58  $               411,899.56 10%
2 TREUTLEN SOPERTON                30.14                      2,899 54,205.45$                       $                     55,582.09  $                 62,801.59 10%
3 TROUP (UNINCORPORATED)             526.14                    32,542 841,653.69$                    $                   859,680.93  $               970,922.00 30%
3 TROUP HOGANSVILLE                28.04                      3,234 53,872.56$                       $                     55,084.09  $                 62,152.85 30%
3 TROUP LAGRANGE             204.26                    32,343 415,488.35$                    $                   423,790.61  $               513,727.71 30%
3 TROUP / HARRIS WEST POINT                43.42                      3,605 75,966.42$                       $                     76,639.98  $                 86,507.33 30%
4 TURNER (UNINCORPORATED)             398.96                      3,776 510,828.76$                    $                   521,263.08  $               591,173.09 10%
4 TURNER ASHBURN                34.15                      4,196 67,502.63$                       $                     68,412.12  $                 77,481.94 10%
4 TURNER REBECCA                  4.26                          206 6,459.72$                         $                        6,584.80  $                    7,462.31 10%
4 TURNER SYCAMORE                  4.43                          731 10,080.38$                       $                        9,964.61  $                 11,346.80 10%

Page 18 of 21



GDOT 
District

County City
Total 

Mileage*
 Population** 

 2024 LMIG Formula 
Amount 

2025 LMIG Formula 
Amount

2026 LMIG Formula 
Amount

 Required 
LMIG 

Match 
3 TWIGGS (UNINCORPORATED)             321.84                      6,571 434,511.71$                    $                   442,328.14  $               501,362.36 30%
3 TWIGGS JEFFERSONVILLE                12.51                          925 20,990.54$                       $                     21,362.26  $                 24,135.31 30%
3 TWIGGS / WILKINSON DANVILLE                  4.89                          160 6,991.84$                         $                        7,087.38  $                    8,035.19 30%
1 UNION (UNINCORPORATED)             564.86                    26,339 841,372.31$                    $                   861,674.91  $               982,701.48 30%
1 UNION BLAIRSVILLE                  9.08                          785 14,312.30$                       $                     16,029.91  $                 18,306.43 30%
3 UPSON (UNINCORPORATED)             462.41                    17,991 672,598.01$                    $                   687,473.61  $               779,683.29 30%
3 UPSON THOMASTON                62.97                      9,876 136,578.38$                    $                   139,492.82  $               157,715.74 30%
3 UPSON YATESVILLE                  6.67                          396 10,529.48$                       $                     10,767.08  $                 12,193.79 30%
6 WALKER (UNINCORPORATED)             675.36                    53,358 1,146,059.52$                 $                1,169,996.27  $            1,326,704.88 30%
6 WALKER CHICKAMAUGA                22.71                      3,057 46,507.62$                       $                     47,083.02  $                 53,376.59 30%
6 WALKER LAFAYETTE                58.59                      7,044 114,171.64$                    $                   116,235.07  $               131,857.81 30%
6 WALKER LOOKOUT MOUNTAIN                14.92                      1,671 28,332.70$                       $                     28,792.36  $                 32,725.70 30%
6 WALKER ROSSVILLE                25.27                      3,991 55,217.58$                       $                     56,058.81  $                 63,484.20 30%
1 WALTON (UNINCORPORATED)             789.60                    69,982 1,357,793.13$                 $                1,396,070.09  $            1,603,858.23 30%
1 WALTON BETWEEN                  3.99                          453 7,484.99$                         $                        7,766.62  $                    8,794.26 30%
1 WALTON GOOD HOPE                  4.50                          386 7,638.40$                         $                        7,934.14  $                    9,051.46 30%
1 WALTON JERSEY                  3.27                          151 4,907.49$                         $                        5,009.09  $                    5,678.65 30%
1 WALTON MONROE                88.05                    15,929 200,898.62$                    $                   206,712.63  $               235,242.15 30%
1 WALTON WALNUT GROVE                  9.79                      1,575 20,192.71$                       $                     20,658.19  $                 24,794.84 30%
1 WALTON / GWINNETT LOGANVILLE                57.57                    16,516 160,252.28$                    $                   165,975.71  $               196,153.59 30%
1 WALTON / NEWTON SOCIAL CIRCLE                50.18                      5,330 92,613.47$                       $                     95,163.54  $               108,052.46 30%
5 WARE (UNINCORPORATED)             788.82                    22,535 1,101,971.94$                 $                1,119,535.22  $            1,273,448.87 10%
5 WARE /PIERCE WAYCROSS             158.49                    13,714 277,889.34$                    $                   282,734.40  $               319,618.83 10%
2 WARREN (UNINCORPORATED)             301.49                      2,913 387,910.02$                    $                   395,092.17  $               447,156.54 10%
2 WARREN CAMAK                  4.32                          128 6,105.71$                         $                        6,190.45  $                    7,005.92 10%
2 WARREN NORWOOD                  5.08                          190 7,468.34$                         $                        7,571.60  $                    8,512.46 10%
2 WARREN WARRENTON                18.18                      1,875 32,831.12$                       $                     33,850.71  $                 38,758.03 10%
2 WASHINGTON (UNINCORPORATED)             720.40                      9,824 941,328.93$                    $                   959,821.04  $            1,088,339.15 10%
2 WASHINGTON DAVISBORO                  8.89                      1,939 22,224.37$                       $                     22,868.72  $                 26,046.68 10%
2 WASHINGTON DEEPSTEP                  3.98                          113 5,396.79$                         $                        5,498.64  $                    6,420.34 10%
2 WASHINGTON HARRISON                  6.96                          322 10,523.82$                       $                     10,696.95  $                 12,090.87 10%
2 WASHINGTON OCONEE                  4.82                          184 7,046.68$                         $                        7,123.47  $                    8,102.63 10%
2 WASHINGTON RIDDLEVILLE                  1.95                            77 2,866.33$                         $                        2,922.55  $                    3,295.80 10%
2 WASHINGTON SANDERSVILLE                51.70                      5,536 97,725.86$                       $                     98,747.06  $               111,634.67 10%
2 WASHINGTON TENNILLE                13.71                      1,825 26,908.33$                       $                     28,565.87  $                 32,081.05 10%

Page 19 of 21



GDOT 
District

County City
Total 

Mileage*
 Population** 

 2024 LMIG Formula 
Amount 

2025 LMIG Formula 
Amount

2026 LMIG Formula 
Amount

 Required 
LMIG 

Match 
5 WAYNE (UNINCORPORATED)             770.84                    20,021 1,063,147.94$                 $                1,083,932.70  $            1,230,539.10 10%
5 WAYNE JESUP             108.01                    10,065 192,485.52$                    $                   196,346.98  $               222,808.48 10%
5 WAYNE ODUM                  9.81                          484 14,856.77$                       $                     15,200.15  $                 17,251.10 10%
5 WAYNE SCREVEN                11.63                          803 18,919.53$                       $                     19,386.71  $                 22,042.40 10%
3 WEBSTER (UNINCORPORATED)             209.78                      2,337 270,922.11$                    $                   276,304.58  $               313,288.61 10%
5 WHEELER (UNINCORPORATED)             308.47                      3,445 412,775.02$                    $                   406,660.01  $               460,733.22 10%
5 WHEELER ALAMO                13.20                      2,811 20,918.33$                       $                     34,974.26  $                 38,202.15 10%
5 WHEELER GLENWOOD                12.49                          819 20,416.62$                       $                     20,726.01  $                 23,371.30 10%
1 WHITE (UNINCORPORATED)             268.11                    24,887 476,005.35$                    $                   487,148.86  $               552,397.27 30%
1 WHITE CLEVELAND                27.50                      3,539 55,056.14$                       $                     56,243.69  $                 63,505.00 30%
1 WHITE HELEN                18.29                          600 25,688.18$                       $                     26,405.69  $                 30,064.69 30%
6 WHITFIELD (UNINCORPORATED)             698.27                    65,164 1,248,332.56$                 $                1,272,047.96  $            1,441,086.92 30%
6 WHITFIELD COHUTTA                12.64                          809 20,233.69$                       $                     20,672.49  $                 23,514.31 30%
6 WHITFIELD DALTON             186.10                    34,508 436,838.02$                    $                   444,558.39  $               503,037.53 30%
6 WHITFIELD TUNNEL HILL                  7.06                          979 14,516.79$                       $                     14,841.45  $                 16,792.37 30%
6 WHITFIELD VARNELL                  7.79                      2,227 22,827.11$                       $                     23,217.97  $                 26,487.83 30%
4 WILCOX (UNINCORPORATED)             470.94                      4,101 601,937.60$                    $                   613,987.37  $               695,359.37 10%
4 WILCOX ABBEVILLE                14.41                      2,844 33,954.93$                       $                     35,015.51  $                 40,144.67 10%
4 WILCOX PINEVIEW                  7.93                          453 12,436.24$                       $                     12,735.48  $                 14,373.68 10%
4 WILCOX PITTS                  5.15                          243 7,822.55$                         $                        7,955.38  $                    8,979.43 10%
4 WILCOX ROCHELLE                13.94                      1,138 24,161.33$                       $                     24,506.15  $                 27,638.65 10%
2 WILKES (UNINCORPORATED)             416.99                      5,236 541,406.90$                    $                   553,074.13  $               626,838.41 10%
2 WILKES RAYLE                      -                            157 952.41$                            $                           994.10  $                    1,089.65 10%
2 WILKES TIGNALL                  8.54                          491 13,407.90$                       $                     13,713.23  $                 15,501.24 10%
2 WILKES WASHINGTON                38.97                      3,634 70,257.35$                       $                     71,460.38  $                 80,406.97 10%
2 WILKINSON (UNINCORPORATED)             323.62                      4,349 423,123.03$                    $                   430,806.07  $               488,461.28 30%
2 WILKINSON GORDON                28.03                      1,742 45,117.72$                       $                     45,717.15  $                 51,783.49 30%
2 WILKINSON IRWINTON                  7.31                          519 12,233.82$                       $                     12,319.47  $                 13,953.77 30%
2 WILKINSON IVEY                16.34                      1,026 26,693.10$                       $                     26,700.09  $                 30,259.95 30%
2 WILKINSON MCINTYRE                11.91                          565 18,175.30$                       $                     18,334.69  $                 20,787.08 30%
2 WILKINSON TOOMSBORO                  4.41                          376 7,839.73$                         $                        7,809.41  $                    8,854.60 30%

2
WILKINSON / 
BLECKLEY / LAURENS / 
TWIGGS

ALLENTOWN                  4.30                          192  $                        6,520.96 
 $                        6,529.77  $                    7,421.79 

30%

4 WORTH (UNINCORPORATED)             784.15                    13,182 1,040,172.10$                 $                1,060,898.47  $            1,201,921.42 30%

Page 20 of 21



GDOT 
District

County City
Total 

Mileage*
 Population** 

 2024 LMIG Formula 
Amount 

2025 LMIG Formula 
Amount

2026 LMIG Formula 
Amount

 Required 
LMIG 

Match 
4 WORTH POULAN                13.20                          726 20,686.33$                       $                     21,044.45  $                 23,731.26 30%
4 WORTH SUMNER                  8.10                          437 12,558.60$                       $                     12,811.90  $                 14,503.37 30%
4 WORTH SYLVESTER                54.40                      5,436 100,385.76$                    $                   101,889.80  $               114,764.08 30%
4 WORTH WARWICK                  4.91                          492 9,049.33$                         $                        9,199.36  $                 10,367.75 30%

Page 21 of 21



Stanley D Hawthorne
City Manager

stanleyhawthorne@pinelakega.net
425 Allgood Road Stone Mountain GA 30083

PO Box 1325 Pine Lake, GA 30072 404-999-4932
www.pinelakega.net

COUNCIL AGENDA MEMORANDUM (CAM)

TO: Honorable Mayor and Council Members

FROM: Stanley D Hawthorne, City Manager

DATE: January 27, 2026

TITLE: Truist Bank Signer Authorization for Mayor Pro Tempore Jeff Goldberg

RECOMMENDATION
Approve resolution which will act as City Council’s authorization for Mayor Pro Tempore, Jeff Goldberg,
to be a signer on all Pine Lake accounts at Truist Bank. 

BACKGROUND
All remittances require one signature from an authorized signer. Mayor Brandy Hall is the primary and 
sole signer for all accounts. It is the purpose of the Mayor Pro Tempore’s role to ensure continuity of City 
operations in the Mayor’s absence. Therefore, to ensure uninterrupted financial operations, and in 
alignment with the role of Mayor Pro Tempore, adding Mayor Pro Tempore Jeff Goldberg as an 
additional signer on all bank accounts is advised.   

RESOURCE IMPACT
None

ATTACHMENTS
Resolution R-2026-05, Authorizing Official Signatures for Truist Bank Accounts



Resolution R-2026-05 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF PINE LAKE TO AUTHORIZE THE 
SUBSTITUTION OF THE CURRENT MAYOR PRO TEM AS A SIGNATORY ON THE 

ACCOUNTS OF THE CITY OF PINE LAKE, AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES 

WHEREAS, The official accounts of the City of Pine Lake require a single authorized user to 
sign checks payable against those accounts; and 

WHEREAS,  Currently the Mayor and former Mayor pro tem Jean Bourdeaux are authorized 
signatories on those accounts; 

WHEREAS, Mayor pro tem Bourdeaux’s term of office expired on December 31, 2025 and she 
has been succeeded in office by Councilmember Jeff Goldberg who was elected 
Mayor pro tem by the Council on January 13, 2026;  

WHEREAS, To ensure continuity of Government and enable smooth City operations, a second 
qualified signatory, the City Council expressly finds that a second authorized 
signatory on City accounts is necessary and advisable;  

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Governing Authority of the City of Pine 
Lake, Georgia, in an open and public meeting, that the Mayor and City Manager are directed to 
take whatever steps are necessary to remove the name of Jean Bourdeaux as an authorized 
signatory on all City Accounts; 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that Mayor pro tem Jeff Goldberg is authorized to 
execute any and all documents necessary to give effect to this Resolution and is expressly 
delegated authority under the Charter to sign checks of the City as an authorized representative 
of the City of Pine Lake on its deposit accounts at any authorized financial institution;  

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that this resolution is effective immediately upon its 
adoption by the Governing Authority, and the City Clerk is authorized, in consultation with the 
City Attorney, to make any changes or modifications to this Resolution as may be necessary to 
give full effect to the intent of the City Council. 

ADOPTED by the Mayor and Council of the City of Pine Lake, this 27th day of January, 
2026. 

BRANDY HALL 
Mayor 

ATTEST: APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

NED DAGENHARD CHRISTOPHER D. BALCH 
City Clerk City Attorney 



Resolution R-2026-06 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF PINE LAKE TO APPROVE AND ADOPT THE 
CONTRACT FOR SERVICES FOR THE CITY ATTORNEY, TO AUTHORIZE THE 

CORRECTION OF SCRIVENER’S ERRORS, AND FOR OTHER PURPOSES 

WHEREAS, Section 3.12 of the Charter of the City of Pine Lake places the appointment 
authority of the City Attorney in the City Council; and 

WHEREAS, That section of the Charter also requires that the Governing Authority provide for 
the payment of fees and expenses relevant to the representation of the City; and 

WHEREAS, The proposed engagement letter for the City Attorney is attached to this Resolution 
as Exhibit A; 

WHEREAS,  The Governing Authority finds the fees charged and terms of the Agreement 
reasonable and acceptable; and 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Governing Authority of the City of Pine 
Lake, Georgia, in an open and public meeting, that the Council has already appointed 
Christopher Balch and the Balch Law Group as City attorney and now wishes to ratify and 
approve the Contract attached to this Resolution is adopted and approved, that the Mayor is 
authorized to sign any and all documents necessary to carry out the intent of this Resolution, and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that this resolution is effective immediately upon the 
Mayor’s signature and the City Clerk is authorized, in consultation with the City Attorney, to 
make any changes or modifications to this Resolution as may be necessary to give full effect to 
the intent of the City Council. 

ADOPTED by the Mayor and Council of the City of Pine Lake, this 27th day of January, 
2025. 

BRANDY HALL 
Mayor 

ATTEST: APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

NED DAGENHARD CHRISTOPHER D. BALCH 
City Clerk City Attorney 



 

 

 

January 22, 2026 

 

VIA EMAIL ONLY 

Brandy Hall 

Mayor, City of Pine Lake 

P.O. Box 1325 

Pine Lake, GA 30072 

 

 Re: Engagement Letter 

  Client: City of Pine Lake 

    City Attorney Services  

 

Dear Mayor Hall: 

 

 This correspondence will serve to confirm that the you seek to appoint this firm 

to provide services as City Attorney. We understand this appointment is subject to 

confirmation by your City Council. We look forward to the opportunity of working 

with you. 

 

 Representation is provided under the following terms and conditions: 

 

1. You seek to have this firm represent the City of Pine Lake as City Attorney as 

defined in the City’s Charter. We accept this assignment. We have performed 

a conflict check and the firm has represented the City in the past. No conflicts 

appear to exist. 

2. This matter will be handled on a hourly fee basis. No retainer will be required 

to begin this work. 

3. The rate charged will be $200 per hour for all attorneys, and $150 per hour for 

paralegals. There is no charge for clerical assistance. We will charge for the time 

we spend performing services related to this engagement to the nearest 1/10 th 

hour. This Hourly Rate will be charged for any and all work performed for the 

City of Pine Lake, whether assigned by the City Manager, requested by a 

department head, or assigned by a member of the Governing Body. 

4. Our representation is governed by this agreement and the Georgia Professional 

Responsibility Code (“the Code”), which defines the duties and obligations of 

Christopher D. Balch 
830 Glenwood Ave. SE 

Suite 510-220 

404.202.5934    

chris@balchlawgroup.com 

www.balchlawgroup.com 

 

 



THE BALCH LAW GROUP 
 

Re: Engagement Letter 

January 22, 2026 

Page  
 

2 

lawyers to their clients. In the event of a conflict between this Agreement and 

the Code, the Code will apply first. 

5. At times, specialist counsel may be required, and we will advise you of our 

recommendation for that additional counsel. Those counsel will have their own 

billing practices and hourly rates which the City will have to approve for the 

specialist work to be accomplished. If the Governing Body disagrees with a 

recommended outside specialist counsel, we will make a different 

recommendation or discuss the objections with the Governing Body in order 

to reach an accord on the counsel selected. 

6. The City will also be responsible for any appearances in Court or before any 

administrative body, the time spent preparing for Court, including witness or 

document preparation, and other reasonable and necessary time spent on this 

matter and arising from this investigation. Such Court Appearances will also be 

billed at the same hourly rate as identified above. 

7. The Client is responsible for the reasonable and ordinary expenses of the 

representation, and which may include copy costs, travel expenses, and other 

out of pocket expenses incurred. Any expense in excess of $250 will be cleared 

with client before being incurred, to the extent reasonable and possible. 

8. We render statements for fees and expenses on a monthly basis, itemizing the 

services performed and the expenses incurred. Payment of each statement is 

due when received. If statements are not paid promptly, the Client agrees that 

we may withdraw as Counsel in this or any other matter in which we are acting 

for the City. Any delay or decision to continue performance under this 

Engagement does not waive our right and ability to withdraw as Counsel in the 

future. 

9. The Client, through its designated representatives, at all times retains absolute 

control and decision-making authority over the engagement. 

10. The Client, through its designated representatives retains the right to discharge 

counsel at any time for any reason. The City shall immediately pay any 

outstanding invoice and any submitted invoice for billed but un-invoiced time 

at the time of the discharge of counsel. 

11. This engagement agreement reflects the terms under which we will provide 

services in connection with this agreement. We must receive a signed 

counterpart to this Agreement to proceed with this representation. 



THE BALCH LAW GROUP 
 

Re: Engagement Letter 

January 22, 2026 

Page  
 

3 

12. At the conclusion of this representation, we will retain your files for a period of 

6 years after the termination of the representation. At the expiration of the 5-

year period, we will destroy these files unless you notify us in writing that you 

wish to take possession of them. 

13. This engagement letter constitutes the entire agreement between the parties. No 

other representations or warranties are made. It may be modified only by a 

written document signed by both the firm and the Clients. 

You will be entitled to regular updates on the status of the matter. In addition, the firm 

will respond to inquiries within a reasonable time. 

 

 We appreciate your trust and confidence in retaining the Balch Law Group for 

this representation. Please let me know if there are any questions or concerns. 

 

 

      Sincerely yours, 

 

      THE BALCH LAW GROUP 

 

 

 

      Christopher D. Balch 

Accepted: 

 

            

Brandy Hall, Mayor      Date 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

            

City Clerk       Date 

 

 

Chris Balch



Stanley D Hawthorne
City Manager

stanleyhawthorne@pinelakega.net
425 Allgood Road Stone Mountain GA 30083

PO Box 1325 Pine Lake, GA 30072 404-999-4932
www.pinelakega.net

COUNCIL AGENDA MEMORANDUM (CAM)

TO: Honorable Mayor and Council Members

FROM: Stanley D Hawthorne, City Manager

DATE: January 27, 2026

TITLE: Tree City USA Application

RECOMMENDATION
Approve resolution authorizing the application to the Arbor Day Foundation for Pine Lake’s designation 
as a “Tree City USA.”

BACKGROUND
“The Tree City USA designation is a national recognition program sponsored by the Arbor Day 
Foundation that honors communities committed to effective urban forest management. To qualify, a 
community must meet four core standards: a tree board or department, a public tree care ordinance, an 
annual forestry budget of at least $2 per capita, and an annual Arbor Day observance.

Purpose of the Designation
Structured Management: Provides a framework for communities to proactively manage and 
expand public trees, ensuring clear accountability for tree care decisions.
National Awareness: Raises visibility for the value of urban forests and encourages continuous, 
systematic tree planting.
Accountability: Standardizes community forestry across the U.S., requiring an annual commitment 
to maintain the status.

Community Benefits
Environmental & Health Improvements:

o Air Quality: Trees absorb pollutants and filter particulates, leading to cleaner air and
improved public health.

o Stormwater Management: A healthy canopy reduces runoff and infrastructure damage by
acting like a natural sponge.

o Temperature Control: Shade trees lower local temperatures, mitigating the urban "heat
island" effect.



Stanley D Hawthorne 
City Manager 

stanleyhawthorne@pinelakega.net 
425 Allgood Road Stone Mountain GA 30083 

PO Box 1325  Pine Lake, GA 30072 404-999-4932 
www.pinelakega.net

Financial & Economic Advantages:
o Energy Savings: Strategically placed trees can reduce cooling and heating costs by up to

25%.
o Increased Property Values: Well-maintained street trees can boost residential property

values by 7–20%.
o Grant Priority: Designated communities often receive preference or "extra points" when

applying for state and federal urban forestry grants.

Social & Civic Impact: 
o Civic Pride: Earning the "badge of honor" creates a positive community image for

residents, visitors, and potential businesses.
o Community Engagement: Annual Arbor Day events and tree-planting initiatives foster

volunteerism and stronger neighborhood ties.
o Safety: Studies indicate that neighborhoods with healthy trees often experience lower

crime rates and reduced traffic accident severity.”

RESOURCE IMPACT 
There is minimal fiscal impact for participation in the Tree City USA Designation Program. The City 
already meets the $2 per capita standard required for application eligibility from its annual tree 
maintenance budget. 

ATTACHMENTS 
Resolution 
Draft Arbor Day Proclamation 



Resolution R-2026-07 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE APPLICATION TO  
THE ARBOR DAY FOUNDATION FOR DESIGNATION AS A “TREE CITY USA” 

WHEREAS, The City of Pine Lake is proud of its protection of its natural heritage; and 

WHEREAS, The City previously earned the designation as a “Tree City USA” from the Arbor 
Day Foundation; and 

WHEREAS, The Governing Authority believes regaining that designation would inspire 
appropriate interest in our tree canopy and encourage residents to care for and 
protect the trees in their yards; and 

WHEREAS, The Deadline for Applications for the designation as a “Tree City” is January 31, 
2026; and 

WHEREAS, The Governing Authority wishes to authorize the designation of a day in 2026 as 
Arbor Day in Pine Lake and to delegate the authority for the choice of that day to 
the Mayor in consultation with the Administration;  

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the governing authority of the City of Pine 
Lake, Georgia, that the City authorizes the Mayor pro tem to complete any and all forms or 
documents necessary to complete the application for Pine Lake to be designated “Tree City USA”; 
that the Mayor pro tem is authorized to receive direct assistance from the Administration who shall 
furnish documents and any technical assistance required to complete the application; 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Mayor, in consultation with the City Manager, shall 
designate a day in the future as “Arbor Day in Pine Lake” and shall issue an appropriate 
Proclamation to that effect before January 30, 2026. 

ADOPTED by the Mayor and Council of the City of Pine Lake, this 27th day of January, 
2026. 

BRANDY HALL 
Mayor 

ATTEST: APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

NED DAGENHARD CHRISTOPHER D. BALCH 
Acting City Clerk City Attorney 



Arbor Day Proclamation 
City of Pine Lake, Georgia 

 
WHEREAS,  trees play a vital role in the health and well-being of 

the City of Pine Lake by cleaning the air, conserving 
energy, providing habitat for wildlife, reducing 
stormwater runoff into Pine Lake, enhancing 
property values, and beautifying our unique lake-
centered community. 

 
WHEREAS,  the City of Pine Lake cherishes its natural 

environment, honoring the forests, lake, wetlands, 
and green spaces that define our sense of place 
and strengthen our connection to the land and to 
one another; 

 
WHEREAS,  Arbor Day, first observed in 1872, reflects a 

continuing commitment to tree planting and 
stewardship that inspires communities such as Pine 
Lake to nurture and expand their natural 
landscapes; 

 
WHEREAS,  the City of Pine Lake has met the standards of the 

Arbor Day Foundation and the Georgia Forestry 
Commission and has applied to be recognized as a 
Tree City USA community. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT PROCLAIMED, that the Mayor and City 
Council of the City of Pine Lake hereby proclaim ________________ 
as Arbor Day in the City of Pine Lake, and encourage residents to  
observe this day by planting trees and supporting the care and  
stewardship of our urban forest. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, I, Mayor Brandy Hall, Mayor of the City of Pine 
Lake, Georgia, by virtue of the authority vested in me, do hereby 
proclaim __________ as ARBOR DAY in the City of Pine Lake and 
urge all residents to plant, preserve, and appreciate trees, 
recognizing their essential role in sustaining the health, beauty, and 
character of our community. 
 
 



Stanley D Hawthorne
City Manager

stanleyhawthorne@pinelakega.net
425 Allgood Road Stone Mountain GA 30083

PO Box 1325 Pine Lake, GA 30072 404-999-4932
www.pinelakega.net

COUNCIL AGENDA MEMORANDUM (CAM)

TO: Honorable Mayor and Council Members

FROM: Stanley D Hawthorne, City Manager

DATE: January 27, 2026

TITLE: Comprehensive Plan Development Agreement

RECOMMENDATION
Approve resolution for memorandum of agreement between the City of Pine Lake and the Atlanta 
Regional Commission to update the City’s Comprehensive Plan as required by the State of Georgia, 
Department of Community Affairs (DCA).

BACKGROUND
Comprehensive plans in Georgia are mandated by the state's Department of Community Affairs
(DCA). They serve as roadmaps for local governments to guide future development. These plans, 
typically updated every five to ten years, address physical, economic, social, and other factors to shape a 
community's vision and goals. They guide land use, transportation, and infrastructure, while also 
protecting natural resources and enhancing quality of life.

Key Components and Purpose of a Comprehensive Plan include as:

Land Use Plan
Outlines desired locations, density, and design for future development, redevelopment, or preservation.

Public Input



Stanley D Hawthorne 
City Manager 

stanleyhawthorne@pinelakega.net 
425 Allgood Road Stone Mountain GA 30083 

PO Box 1325  Pine Lake, GA 30072 404-999-4932 
www.pinelakega.net

Comprehensive plans are developed with public dialogue and input, ensuring they reflect the community's 
vision.  

Asset-Based Community Development  
Plans often focus on identifying and utilizing local resources like parks, historic downtowns, and retail 
districts.  

Five-Year Work Program  
Includes a detailed plan to address the community's needs and priorities. 

The City of Pine Lake’s Comprehensive Plan was adopted on October 12, 2021, as prepared by the 
Atlanta Regional Commission. It consists of multiple chapters specified for data and demographics; 
community input, vision, and feedback; issues, opportunities, and policies; areas of attention; character 
areas and narrative; transportation; broadband; report of accomplishments; and community work program. 

Last summer, we received communication from the Atlanta Regional Commission advising that the City’s 
Comprehensive Plan should be updated by October 2026 and the process to meet that timeline should 
begin soon. The City Council determined to continue partnering with the ARC for facilitating Pine Lake’s 
process.   

The Georgia DCA Local Planning Rules allow communities to request assistance from their Regional 
Commission to prepare a basic plan update, at no additional cost to the jurisdiction. In accordance with 
the rules, the Regional Commission plan update process largely focuses on the local plan’s Goals, Needs 
and Opportunities, Broadband Element, and five-year Community Work Program. 

CHAPTER 110-12-1-.02 REQUIREMENTS 110-12-1-.02 Requirements. O.C.G.A. 50-8-1 et seq. gives 
the Department authority to establish standards and procedures for comprehensive planning by all local 
governments in Georgia.  

Those standards and procedures, embodied herein, emphasize preparation of plans that help each local 
government address its immediate needs and opportunities while moving toward realization of its long-
term goals for the future.  

In order to maintain qualified local government certification, and thereby remain eligible for selected state 
funding and permitting programs, each local government must prepare, adopt, maintain, and implement a 
comprehensive plan as specified in these standards.  



Stanley D Hawthorne 
City Manager 

stanleyhawthorne@pinelakega.net 
425 Allgood Road Stone Mountain GA 30083 

PO Box 1325  Pine Lake, GA 30072 404-999-4932 
www.pinelakega.net

(1) Required and Optional Plan Elements.
Each community’s comprehensive plan must include the required plan elements specified in the
“Required for” column below. Each community is encouraged to go beyond these minimum required
elements and supplement its comprehensive plan with other plan elements (refer to the list of optional
plan elements in the Supplemental Planning Recommendations for suggestions) to make the overall plan a
good fit for the community.



Stanley D Hawthorne 
City Manager 

stanleyhawthorne@pinelakega.net 
425 Allgood Road Stone Mountain GA 30083 

PO Box 1325  Pine Lake, GA 30072 404-999-4932 
www.pinelakega.net

RESOURCE IMPACT 
The Georgia DCA Local Planning Rules allow communities to request assistance from their Regional 
Commission to prepare a basic plan update, at no additional cost to the jurisdiction. The City has elected 
to partner with the Atlanta Regional Commission at no cost for development of the City’s 2026 
Comprehensive Plan. 

ATTACHMENTS 
Resolution 
Memorandum of Agreement 



Resolution R-2026-08 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE ACCEPTANCE OF A CONTRACT PROPOSAL 
FROM THE ATLANTA REGIONAL COMMISSION TO PROVIDE ADVICE AND 

COUNSEL ON THE DEVELOPMENT OF A NEW COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
PLAN AS REQUIRED UNDER THE LAW OF GEORGIA 

WHEREAS, Georgia law requires a periodic review and update to local government Community 
Development Plans for the local government to remain in good standing as an 
authorized local zoning agency; and  

WHEREAS, The Atlanta Regional Commission (“ARC”) is the body created by Georgia statute 
to advise local development and zoning decisions; and 

WHEREAS, The ARC proposal consists of specific services to be performed at no cost to the 
City in order for the City to retain local control over zoning decisions; and 

WHEREAS, The Community Development Plan addresses physical, economic, social, and other 
factors to shape a community’s vision and goals; and 

WHEREAS, The Plan guides land use, transportation, and infrastructure, while also protecting 
natural resources and enhancing quality of life;  

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the governing authority of the City of Pine 
Lake, Georgia, that the City accepts the proposed agreement from ARC for services in the 
preparation and adoption of the 2026 Community Development Plan and the Mayor is authorized 
to sign any and all documents necessary to give effect to this Resolution. 

ADOPTED by the Mayor and Council of the City of Pine Lake, this 27th day of January, 
2026. 

BRANDY HALL 
Mayor 

ATTEST: APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

NED DAGENHARD CHRISTOPHER D. BALCH 
Acting City Clerk City Attorney 



ARC MOA 

Page 1 of 5 

022545 

LOCAL COMPREHENSICE PLAN UPDATE ASSISTANCE 
MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT 

THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into as of this 1st day of November 2025   
(the “Effective Date”) by and between the CITY OF PINE LAKE (hereinafter referred as 
the “City”), a political subdivision of the State of Georgia and the ATLANTA 
REGIONAL COMMISSION (hereinafter referred to as “ARC”). 

WITNESSETH: 

WHEREAS, Regional Commissions were created by the State of Georgia in order to assist local 
governments on a regional basis and to develop, promote, and assist in establishing coordinated 
and comprehensive planning in the state; and 

WHEREAS, as the Regional Commission for the 11-county Atlanta Region, ARC has been 
mandated to undertake certain regional responsibilities under the Georgia Planning Act of 1989 
(as amended) (O.C.G.A. 45-12-200, et seq., and 50-8-1, et seq.) and does agree to perform 
prescribed services to local governments; and 

WHEREAS, the City is required to update its Local Comprehensive Plan by October 31, 2026, 
according to the schedule set by the Georgia Department of Community Affairs (“DCA”); and 

WHEREAS, the City has requested assistance from ARC to update its Local Comprehensive Plan 
under the requirements set by the Minimum Standards and Procedures for Local Comprehensive 
Planning (the “Minimum Standards”) found in Chapter 110-12-1 of the DCA Rules, in accordance 
with the Georgia Planning Act of 1989 (as amended); and 

WHEREAS, ARC and the City believe it is mutually beneficial for both parties that the City, as 
part of the ARC, maintains its Local Comprehensive Plan; and 

WHEREAS, ARC agrees to provide assistance for development of the City’s update of its Local 
Comprehensive Plan. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the promises and mutual covenants herein contained, 
and for other good and valuable consideration, the parties hereto agrees as follows: 

1. Duties of ARC. ARC agrees to perform the following services:

a. Provide a project manager to coordinate with local government staff and ensure that
the project is moving forward in a timely manner.

b. Facilitate and/or participate in Project Management Team meetings with local
government staff.

c. Facilitate, in consultation with local government staff, a public engagement process
reflecting the community’s demographics, composition and dynamics, to solicit
community input, that includes or is equivalent to the following:

i. A maximum of two (2) Steering Committee meetings, one (1) to be held in- 
person and one (1) to be held virtually.



ARC MOA 
022545 

Page 2 of 5 
 

ii. A maximum of one (1) public engagement event, to be held either in-person 
or virtually and, if at all possible, attached to an existing/scheduled community 
event. 

iii. An online public engagement portal and survey, hosted by ARC. 
iv. An opportunity for Steering Committee members to review and comment on 

the draft plan, including a review and comment period lasting at least two (2) 
weeks. 

v. An opportunity for Steering Committee members to review and comment on 
the draft plan, including a review and comment period lasting at least two (2) 
weeks. 

d. Update, in consultation with local government staff, the following Comprehensive 
Plan elements of which Regional Commissions are required to assist, as defined at 
Chapter 110-12-1-.02(7)(b) of the Minimum Standards: 

i. Community Vision/Goals 
ii. Needs and Opportunities 

iii. Broadband 
iv. Report of Accomplishments 
v. Community Work Program 

e. Update, in consultation with local government staff, the following Comprehensive 
Plan elements, if requested by the local government: 

i. Land Use 
ii. Economic Development 

iii. Transportation 
iv. Housing 
v. Historic and Arts/Cultural Resources 

vi. Natural Resources and Sustainability 
vii. Any other elements identified by the local government 

f. Review any adopted HUD Consolidated Plan, Local Comprehensive Transportation 
Plan (CTP), Regional Transportation Plan/Transportation Improvement Program 
(RTP/TIP), Economic Development Plan, relevant to ARC or other regional policy or 
plan document, and any other plans as needed, and integrate same with applicable 
elements of the Comprehensive Plan, as appropriate. 

g. Present at, attend, or support the two (2) DCA-required public hearings (one at kick- 
off and one prior to transmittal for regional and state review), if requested by the local 
government. 

h. Provide language for public hearing notices, if requested by the local government. 
i. Provide advertisement and other public involvement materials, if requested by the 

local government. 
j. Prepare the final plan document and other supporting materials in ARC’s standard 

format and provide all project files to the local government. 
k. Complete any plan revisions required by DCA following its state review process. 
l. Complete a maximum of two (2) rounds of plan revisions or edits requested by the 

local government project manager, outside of any revisions required by DCA 
following its state review process. 

 



ARC MOA 
022545 

Page 3 of 5 

2. Duties of the City. The City agrees to perform the following duties:

a. Provide a staff point of contact throughout the process, to coordinate with ARC staff 
and ensure that the project is moving forward in a timely manner.

b. Ensure the staff point of contact participates as a member of the Project Management 
Team and attends Project Management Team meetings with ARC staff.

c. Develop a draft Report of Accomplishments showing the status of each item in the 
Community Work Program from the existing Comprehensive Plan.

d. Develop a draft five (5) year Community Work Program.
e. Assemble a Steering Committee reflecting the composition of the local community. 

The Steering Committee must include members of the governing authority (elected 
officials), representatives of the local economic development community, and local 
government staff. It should include or leverage local entities such as artists or arts 
organizations, nonprofits, community-based organizations (CBOs), neighborhood 
associations or organizations, and local businesses and/or local business 
association(s).

f. Schedule Steering Committee meetings, in consultation with ARC.
g. Promote public awareness of the plan development process, including timely notice 

of, and invitations to, Steering Committee and public meetings.
h. Provide locations for Steering Committee and public meetings that have heat/air 

conditioning, water, and electricity.
i. Provide any food or beverages desired by the local government for Steering 

Committee and public meetings.
j. Post timely notice of, and conduct, public hearings as required by the City’s existing 

procedures.
k. Provide timely notice to ARC of local government meetings that ARC staff should 

attend.
l. Provide ARC with submittal deadlines for relevant City boards and committees at the 

beginning of the process.
m. Meet the following milestones in order for ARC to ensure that the City meets its DCA-

designated Plan Update deadline and maintains Qualified Local Government (“QLG”) 
status:

i. Schedule a date for the First Required Public Hearing, as defined at Chapter
110-12-1-.04(1)(a) of the Minimum Standards, no more than thirty (30) days 
after the signing of this Agreement. Note: The actual meeting does not have 
to occur within the aforementioned thirty (30) days.

ii. Identify and confirm Steering Committee members no more than thirty (30) 
days after the signing of this Agreement.

iii. Schedule both Steering Committee meetings no more than forty-five (45) days 
after the signing of this Agreement (Note: The actual meeting does not have 
to occur within the aforementioned forty-five (45) days.

iv. Complete and provide to ARC staff a draft Report of Accomplishments, 
showing the status of each item in the Community Work Program from the 
existing Comprehensive Plan, no more than sixty (60) days after the signing 
of this Agreement.

v. Accompany or host ARC staff on a site visit or tour (walking, biking, or



ARC MOA 
022545 

Page 4 of 5 

driving, as appropriate) of key areas of the community no more than sixty (60) 
days after the signing of this Agreement. 

vi. Schedule the Second Public Hearing, as defined at Chapter 110-12-1-.04(1)(c)
of the Minimum Standards, no fewer than seventy-five (75) days before the
City’s DCA-designated Plan Update deadline of October 31, 2026.

vii. Ensure that any presentation(s) by ARC staff at the above-mentioned First and
Second Public Hearings take place first on the hearing or meeting agenda.

n. If the City seeks to use any consultant services on its plan update, in addition to the
services provided by the ARC as outlined in the foregoing, the ARC will only
coordinate with, and will only provide information to, the City’s staff point of contact.

3. Time of Performance, Amendments, Modifications.

a. This Agreement shall become effective upon the Effective Date and remain in effect
until the completion of the project or termination by the parties as provided below.
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, in no event shall the term of this
Agreement exceed two (2) yeas from the Effective Date.

b. Either party may terminate this Agreement upon thirty (30) days’ written notice to the
other party, provided that the party requesting termination has provided notice and
sufficient opportunity for remedy.

c. Either party may request changes to this Agreement at any time by written notice to
the other party’s signatory of this Agreement. Such changes as are mutually agreed
upon by and between the parties shall be incorporated in written amendments to this
Agreement and executed in the same manner as this Agreement. This Agreement may
only be modified by an instrument in writing executed by the City and ARC.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the City and ARC acknowledge that this Agreement
may be revised or refined from time to time during its term. The parties agree to
cooperate with each other by executing such documents as may be necessary to
evidence such mutually agreeable modifications and refinements.

4. Rights in Documents, Materials, and Data Produced. For the purposes of this Agreement,
‘data’ includes, but is not limited to, writings, sound recordings, photographs, films,
videotapes, or other graphic representations and works of a similar nature. The City and ARC
shall have the right to use same without restriction or limitation and without compensation to
the other party of the Agreement.

5. Indemnity. The City shall indemnify and hold harmless ARC, its officers, directors,
employees and agents from and against any and all losses, reasonable attorneys’ fees and
costs, that may be based on any injury to persons or property caused by the negligent
performance of services under this Agreement by the City or any person employed by the
City.



ARC MOA 
022545 

Page 5 of 5 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have hereto executed this Agreement as of the date first 
above written. 

ATLANTA REGIONAL COMMISSION 

Attested, Assistant Secretary Anna Roach, Executive Director 

Witness: CITY OF PINE LAKE 

Municipal Clerk Hon.________________________, Mayor 

Approved as to Form: Recommended: 

City Attorney 
Approved: 

____________________________ 



Stanley D Hawthorne
City Manager

stanleyhawthorne@pinelakega.net
425 Allgood Road Stone Mountain GA 30083

PO Box 1325 Pine Lake, GA 30072 404-999-4901
www.pinelakega.net

COUNCIL AGENDA MEMORANDUM (CAM)

TO: Honorable Mayor and Council Members

FROM: Stanley D Hawthorne, City Manager

DATE: January 27, 2026

TITLE: Municipal Appointment to the DeKalb County Women’s Commission

RECOMMENDATION  
Approve resolution to select and appoint an individual to serve on the DeKalb County Women’s 
Commission.

BACKGROUND
“The Women’s Commission is an advisory body charged with providing recommendations to the Board 
of Commissioners, Chief Executive Officer, Chief Operating Officer, and County department leadership 
on policies and strategies that support the wellbeing and advancement of those that identify as women and 
girls throughout DeKalb County. In partnership with the Junior League of DeKalb County, the 
Commission identified focus areas including, but not limited to, health equity, wage inequity and 
employment barriers, housing stability, safety and security, and community-based initiatives that enhance 
quality of life. Pursuant to the adopted ordinance, each DeKalb municipality located fully or partially 
within DeKalb County is authorized to appoint one (1) member to serve on the Commission. Municipal 
appointments will fill positions 12 through 24, with post numbers assigned in the order of initial 
appointment. All appointees must be residents of DeKalb County, and appointing authorities are strongly 
encouraged to select members who reflect the diversity of our communities and professional sectors.”

“Commission members will serve four-year staggered terms and the Commission will meet no fewer than 
four (4) times per year. However, the initial board of 25 appointments has staggered terms with half (odd-
numbered) expiring 1/2/30 and the other half (even-numbered) expiring 1/2/28. The Commission will also 
report at least annually to the Board of Commissioners during a Committee of the Whole meeting, as 
requested.” -Michelle Spears, DeKalb County

RESOURCE IMPACT
No impact.

ATTACHMENTS
Resolution R-2026-08



Stanley D Hawthorne
City Manager

stanleyhawthorne@pinelakega.net
425 Allgood Road Stone Mountain GA 30083

PO Box 1325 Pine Lake, GA 30072 404-999-4932
www.pinelakega.net

COUNCIL AGENDA MEMORANDUM (CAM)

TO: Honorable Mayor and Council Members

FROM: Stanley D Hawthorne, City Manager

DATE: January 27, 2026

TITLE: Beach House Renovations

RECOMMENDATION
Approve resolution awarding a construction contract to L. Brown Enterprises at an estimated cost of 
$71,250 for the renovation of the City’s Beach House along with other specialized service vendors for a 
full cost of the project totaling $85,071.  

BACKGROUND
The construction contract provides for the renovation of the Beach House as an improvement to the City’s 
recreation and facilities. The Pine Lake Beach House is a hub of activity both recreationally and socially.
The Beach House is a gathering spot for many community activities and would benefit from surface
renovation. 

The renovation of this space would provide much-needed recreation and facilities upgrades for the benefit 
of neighbors use and appeal to rental guests. Renovations will include upgrades to the electrical and 
plumbing systems and platform, flooring, interior and exterior painting, wood repairs, and improvements 
to the functionality and aesthetic appearance of the building.

RESOURCE IMPACT
This project is budgeted in the Small Cities Intergovernmental Capital Outlay Fund (SCICO) as part of 
the City of Pine Lake 2026 Adopted Budget projected to cost $90,000.

ATTACHMENTS
Resolution 
Proposers’ Cost Estimate Matrix



Resolution R-2026-10 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE ACCEPTANCE OF THE PROPOSAL FROM 
VARIOUS VENDORS FOR THE RENOVATION OF THE BEACH HOUSE IN THE 

TOTAL AMOUNT OF $85,071 FROM ALLOCATED FUNDS RECEIVED FROM THE 
SMALL CITIES INTERGOVERNMENTAL CAPITAL OUTLAY FUND 

WHEREAS, The City obtained responses to a request for quotes (bids were not required because 
the total cost of the project was for less than $100,000) for the renovation of the 
improvements to real property owned by the City of Pine Lake, also known as the 
Beach House; and  

WHEREAS, The City’s budget for the project was $90,000; and 

WHEREAS, The services, vendors and quotes received were as follows: 

Vendor    Service  Price 
Comfort Air of Atlanta HVAC  $ 5,300 
Robinson Insulation  Insulation $ 3,421 
Battlemount Plumbing Plumbing $ 5,100 
L. Brown Enterprises Flooring and  

Int/Ext Painting $71,250 

for a total project cost of $85,071; 

WHEREAS, Funding for this work was allocated in the 2026 Budget and is sourced from the 
SPLOST II Intergovernmental Agreement with DeKalb County authorized by the 
City Council in 2024; and 

WHEREAS, The Contractors are ready willing and able to begin work; 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Governing Authority of the City of Pine 
Lake, Georgia, that each Vendor identified above shall be the recipient of the part of the project 
identified, that the contract price for the entire project shall not exceed $85,071, unless expressly 
authorized by the Governing Authority, that the Mayor is expressly authorized to execute any and 
all documents, agreements, or other writings deemed necessary for the completion of the work, 
and that this Resolution shall take effect immediately upon approval by the Governing Authority. 

ADOPTED by the Mayor and Council of the City of Pine Lake, this 27th day of January, 
2026. 

BRANDY HALL 
Mayor 

ATTEST: APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

NED DAGENHARD CHRISTOPHER D. BALCH 
City Clerk City Attorney 



            CITY OF PINE LAKE
BEACH HOUSE RENOVATION 

COST MATRIX

VENDOR FLOORING
 ADA 

CONCERNS
 INTERIOR PAINTING

 EXTERIOR PAINTING 
AND WOOD REPAIRS

ELECTRICAL PLUMBING INSULATION SUBTOTAL
TOTAL RECOMMENDED 

COSTS

      
COMFORT AIR OF 

ATLANTA $5,300.00
$5,300.00 $5,300.00

ROBINSON 
INSULATION

 
   $3,421.00

$3,421.00 $3,421.00

     
HOMES BEST 

FRIEND
$42,110.00

 $17,900.00 $23,000.00
$83,010.00  

BATTLEMOUNT 
PLUMBING  $5,100.00

$5,100.00

L. BROWN 
ENTERPRISES

$28,745.00
 $15,125.00 $27,380.00

 $71,250.00

TOTAL  $85,071.00


	Agenda [Draft], 1 27 2026.pdf
	260122 Emergency Declaration.pdf
	260122 Acceptance of 2024 Audit Report.pdf
	260122 Adoption of Regular Meeting Calendar.pdf
	260122 Resolution authorizing application for LMI Grant.pdf
	260122 Resolution Authorizing the addition of Mayor pro tem to sign checks on the City's bank accounts.pdf
	01-26 City Attorney Contract Resolution.pdf
	260122 Tree City Application.pdf
	260122 ARC Contract Approval.pdf
	01-26 Resolution for Renovation of Beach House.pdf



